

Beyond the Bubbles

A Study of Fungal Diversity and Gushing in Beer Production

Alexander Theodor Pettersson

Independent project • 30 credits Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU Department of Forest Mycology and Plant Pathology Agriculture Programme - Soil and Plant Sciences Uppsala, Sweden 2023

Bortom bubblorna - Svampdiversitet och överskumning vid ölproduktion

Alexander Pettersson

| Supervisor: | Hanna Friberg, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Forest Mycology and Plant Pathology | | | |
|-------------|--|--|--|--|
| Examiner: | Björn Andersson, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Forest Mycology and Plant Pathology | | | |

| Credits: | 30 |
|---------------------------|--|
| Level: | A2E |
| Course title: | Master thesis in Biology, A2E - Agriculture Programme - Soil/Plant |
| Course code: | EX0898 |
| Programme/education: | Agriculture Programme - Soil and Plant Sciences |
| Course coordinating dept: | Department of Aquatic Science and Assessment |
| Place of publication: | Uppsala, Sweden |
| Year of publication: | 2023 |
| | |

Keywords: Fusarium Head Blight, Fungal communities, Metabarcoding, Amplicon sequencing Malting barley, Gushing, Pink kernels, Random forests

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Forest Mycology and Plant Pathology

Abstract

Gushing, violent and spontaneous over-foaming of beer, is a well-known quality reducing phenomenon encountered in the brewing industry. The present study investigated the impact of fungal contamination in barley grains, specifically focusing on gushing and the occurrence of pink kernels. A total of 101 seed samples of the malting barley cultivar Planet, harvested in 2020, were sourced from three seed handling sites in the southern and central parts of Sweden - Malmö, Lidköping, and Köping. The fungal communities within these samples were characterized using amplicon sequencing. Furthermore, machine learning techniques were employed to estimate the relative importance of these communities in inducing gushing and in forming pink kernels. Our findings reveal a diverse assembly of fungal species, including yeasts and filamentous fungi, across the analysed samples. The most common fungal genera were Fusarium, Cladosporium, Alternaria, Vishniacozyma, and Sporobolomyces. Particularly, a Fusarium species complex was identified as being associated with both the formation of pink kernels and the induction of gushing, emphasizing its implications to malting barley production. Additionally, this study also marks the first report of the fungal genera Vishniacozyma, and Itersonilia, in the context of pink kernels and malting barley research, highlighting their unexplored role in this context. The results point to the necessity for close monitoring of diseases in malting barley and the implementation of effective management strategies, such as improved crop rotations, in order to ensure that the quality and safety of malting barley meets industry requirements.

Keywords: Fusarium Head Blight, Fungal communities, Metabarcoding, Amplicon sequencing Malting barley, Gushing, Pink kernels, Random forests

Table of contents

| List o | of figures | 6 |
|--------|---|----|
| Abbr | eviations | 8 |
| 1. | Introduction | 9 |
| 1.1 | Background and aims | 9 |
| | 1.1.1 Aims | 9 |
| 1.2 | Brewing business: Europe's beer industry | 11 |
| 1.3 | Multidimensional Sustainability | 12 |
| 1.4 | Quality parameters in beer production | 14 |
| 1.5 | Fungal community composition in barley | 17 |
| 2. | Materials and methods | 18 |
| 2.1 | Methodological theory | 18 |
| | 2.1.1 Decision trees | 18 |
| | 2.1.2 Random forests | 19 |
| 2.2 | Sample collection | 20 |
| 2.3 | Ergosterol content | 21 |
| 2.4 | Image analysis | 21 |
| 2.5 | Modified Carlsberg test | 21 |
| 2.6 | DNA extraction and amplicon sequencing | 22 |
| | 2.6.1 DNA extraction | 22 |
| | 2.6.2 Amplicon preparation | 22 |
| 2.7 | Data analysis | 23 |
| | 2.7.1 Clustering | 23 |
| | 2.7.2 Sequence annotation | 23 |
| | 2.7.3 Construction of random forests | 24 |
| | 2.7.4 NMDS | 25 |
| | 2.7.5 Software and Packages Used for Data Analysis and Visualisations | 25 |
| 3. | Results | 27 |
| 3.1 | Sample Characteristics and Distributions | 27 |
| 3.2 | Sample Similarities Across Sites | 28 |
| 3.3 | Abundance of Fungal Taxa | 29 |

| 3.4 | Fungal OTU Abundance and Community Composition Across Gushing Categories |
|-------|---|
| 3.5 | Predicting Gushing: A comparative Analysis of Random Forest Models and Thresholds |
| 3.6 | Predicting pink kernels: A Comparative Analysis of Species and Genus-level models |
| 4. | Discussion |
| 4.1 | Summary |
| 4.2 | Novel Roles: Vishniacozyma, Microdochium, and Itersonilia |
| 4.3 | Sustainable Management of Gushing in Beer Production |
| | 4.3.1 Social Dimension: Information Access and Management Strategies |
| | 4.3.2 Economic Dimension: Efficiency, Value Generation, and Food Sovereignty44 |
| | 4.3.3 Environmental Dimension: Pesticide Use and Sustainable Practices44 |
| 4.4 | Random Forest Limitations and Improvements in Study Design45 |
| 4.5 | Conclusions and Future Research46 |
| | 4.5.1 Conclusions |
| | 4.5.2 Future research |
| Refer | ences |
| Popu | lar scientific summary: Fungal Intruders: The Unseen Threat to Your Beer56 |
| Ackn | owledgements58 |
| Appe | ndix 159 |

List of figures

| Figure 1. | The production of alcoholic beer (>5% alcoholic content by volume) in European countries per capita over a six-year time-period. Source: Eurostat DS-056120 & Eurostat TPS0000111 |
|-------------|---|
| Figure 2. | Histograms of barley samples, depicting sample count for (A) the percentage of pink kernels per sample (n=101) and (B) gushing values (gushing g/330g)27 |
| Figure 3. I | Non-metric multidimensional scaling plot using community data. Each point represents one sample, with colouring of the points based upon regional origin. The dashed ellipses, drawn with a 95% confidence interval, group samples from the same region. Stress value of fit: 0.047 |
| Figure 4. | Krona diagram of diversity and relative abundance of annotated fungal OTUs identified in barley kernels. The diagram provides a hierarchical representation of the fungal community, with each level depicting a taxonomic rank (i.e., phylum, class, order, family, genus, and species). The size of each segment indicates the relative abundance of the corresponding taxon. Abundance of OTUs were adjusted for ergosterol content of the samples |
| Figure 5. / | Abundance and community structure of fungal OTUs in barley samples divided by gushing categories (0 g, 1-4 g, 4-10 g, and >10 g). Bar height displays fungal abundance as estimated by ergosterol content of samples in each category. Each bar segment represents a specific fungal OTU. Fungal OTUs with a mean ergosterol value below 0.05 mg/kg cereal were grouped into the category "Others" |
| Figure 6. / | A. Random forest predicting gushing set to a categorical variable using a 4g threshold. Independent variables are the putative fungal species of the annotated OTUs, and related sample independent variables. The model had an F1 score of 0.84±0.1 and an out-of-bag error rate of 0.19±0.02. B. Confusion matrix displaying the classification accuracy for the random forest predicting gushing set to a 4g threshold |
| Figure 7. | A. Random forest predicting gushing set to a categorical variable using a 10g threshold. Independent variables are the putative fungal species based on the annotated OTUs, and related sample independent variables. The model had an F1 score of 0.84 ± 0.08 and an out-of-bag error rate of 0.19 ± 0.02 . B. Confusion |

| matrix displaying the classification accuracy for the random forest predicting | J |
|--|----|
| gushing set to a 10g threshold | 33 |

Abbreviations

| FHB | Fusarium head blight |
|-----|-----------------------------|
| ITS | Internal transcribed spacer |
| SH | Species hypothesis |
| RF | Random forest |
| RSS | Residual sum square |
| IV | Independent variable |
| | |

1. Introduction

1.1 Background and aims

Gushing, the violent and spontaneous over-foaming of beer, is a well-known quality reducing phenomenon encountered in the brewing industry. The phenomenon is divided into primary gushing, induced by fungal activity, and secondary gushing, caused by the presence of colloidal or solid particles or excess amounts of carbon dioxide (Lusk 2016). While secondary gushing can be avoided by good manufacturing practices, primary gushing is less well understood, and causes challenges in the beer brewing and seed handling industry. Grain contamination with fungi within the genus Fusarium has been identified to be particularly important in problems with primary gushing. Therefore, presence of pink kernels, a symptom of *Fusarium* infection, is used as a quality indicator in malting barley used for beer production. However, the role of non-Fusarium fungal species in gushing and the presence of pink kernels remains underexplored. Filling this knowledge gap has the potential to improve environmental sustainability in malting barley production by reducing the number of unnecessary applications of fungicides. Social sustainability can be addressed by minimizing the erroneous rejection of seed lots, and improvements in economic sustainability arises from increased profitability for the farmer by disseminating the relationship between gushing, pink kernels, and fungal communities.

1.1.1 Aims

This study aims to contribute to gushing and malting barley-related research by examining the influence of fungal contamination of barley grains on gushing and the presence of pink kernels. To explore this, the present study addressed the following research questions:

- 1. Which fungal species are represented in the fungal communities in barley grains?
- 2. Which fungal species are associated with the gushing-propensity of the collected barley samples?

3. Which fungal species contribute to the presence of pink kernels in barley grains?

The primary research objective of the present study was to identify fungal species that are relevant in the context of fungal contamination of malting barley leading to the presence of pink kernels and/or the induction of gushing. To achieve these objectives, fungal communities on Swedish malting barley grains from the growth season of 2020 were characterized using amplicon sequencing. The data was analyzed using supervised and unsupervised machine learning techniques, including the construction of classification-based random forests and dimensional reduction techniques.

The significance of this study's results lies in its potential implications for the beer production industry. By identifying the specific fungal species associated with gushing and the presence of pink kernels, the findings provide information which can be used to develop targeted strategies for improving the quality assessments of barley grains by offering insights into how fungal community composition differs in samples that induce various amounts of gushing. This could in turn lead to a more sustainable production process that has the potential to minimize the economic losses experienced by farmers due to fungal contaminated grain.

1.2 Brewing business: Europe's beer industry

European beer markets | The 19th-century European beer market was characterized by dominant local and national monopolies. Recent shifts in the European beer market reveal that there is an increased abundance of transnational corporations, such as the Carlsberg Group, and Heineken. The presence of large-scale transnational corporations indicates that the beer market has reached a point of maturity wherein acquisition strategies are the main way of increasing market capital (Hána et al. 2020). Furthermore, the European beer market is experiencing annual growth, and the total amount of beer produced in Europe is increasing. Eurostat – Europe's statistical office – noted an overall 20% and 3% increase in the production of alcoholic and non-alcoholic beer, respectively, between the years 2020 and 2021 (Eurostat 2022). Beer production decreased in most European countries during 2020, most likely due to the advent of the COVID-19 pandemic in Europe and the subsequent disruption of regional and transnational trade networks (Figure 1).



Figure 1. The production of alcoholic beer (>5% alcoholic content by volume) in European countries per capita over a six-year time-period. Source: Eurostat DS-056120 & Eurostat TPS00001.

Prospects of Swedish beer market | In Sweden, recent brewery-related market reports have revealed an increase in the formation of new breweries, indicating that the Swedish beer market is less mature than that of the beer market of the European inland. Indeed, between 2010 and 2021 the number of breweries in Sweden increased more than 50-fold, totalling 534 breweries. Most of these new breweries

are, however, either micro- or nano-breweries producing artisanal beer, meaning that the overall production capacity of such breweries is considerably lower than that of industrial breweries (SPAA 2022).

Malt, a precursor to beer | Malt, a precursor in malt beer production, is commonly produced from the kernels of barley. The process of making malt itself follows three generalized steps- steeping, germination, and kilning, with quality control taking place before and after the malting process to verify the product for downstream applications. The maltster is usually separated from the farmer and the brewer, and acts as a middleman malting the grains which are then sold to separate breweries. Typically, industry-standardized two-rowed malting barley cultivars indexed with malting grades must be sown, cultivated, and harvested. The harvested grain needs to meet certain quality standards before undergoing malting. Examples of such quality standards include varietal purity, moisture content, and protein content. Malting barley is generally recognized as a premium ware, primarily due to the precautions farmers need to take to ensure their product meets the quality standards. Adverse climactic field conditions such as drought or waterlogging, or the presence of diseases during the vegetation period can result in the deterioration of barley grain quality, potentially triggering detrimental biochemical reactions during the malting process, such as the accumulation of mycotoxins or gushingrelated factors respectively. This can in turn render the barley unsuitable for human consumption, relegating unsatisfactory batches to be used as livestock feed. Livestock batches of malting barley are not sold as a premium ware, and as such holds a lower market value than that of malting barley (Briggs 1998; Geißinger et al. 2022).

1.3 Multidimensional Sustainability

Barley production in Europe | Barley is ranked as one of the five most important cereals for global food production and trade, with a stable annual production that has not changed significantly in the past 15 years. The European union is the main producer of barley from a global perspective totalling 53 million tonnes 2022 (Lukinac & Jukić 2022). Recent socio-political events such as Russia's invasion of Ukraine is expected to affect the global supply of various agricultural commodities such as sunflower oil, wheat, and barley. The disruption caused by the invasion is expected to reduce Ukraine's agricultural production of spring sown crops in 2023 by 20%, and the reduction in export of agricultural goods from Ukraine undermines food security in countries which are dependent upon Ukraine's exports (Gay et al. 2022).

Socio-political challenges in agriculture | The on-going energy crisis in Europe is also fuelled by the previously mentioned socio-political events. The prices of energy commodities such as gas and electricity are steadily increasing, which puts

agricultural sustainability in a vulnerable position – possibly jeopardizing European sustainability incentives related to agriculture, such as the farm to fork strategy which aims to make Europe a climate-neutral continent (Fiore et al. 2022). The upward trend in gas and electricity prices has a direct impact on various industries and organizations. Modern industrialized agriculture is dependent upon energyintensive equipment such as tractors and combine harvesters, as well as off-farm supply chains, and relies heavily on the usage of gas and fossil fuels as an energy source, thus making food production susceptible to fluctuations in energy prices. The destabilizing effects on the European energy market therefore risks putting food-sovereignty and environmental sustainability at odds, resulting in a trade-off scenario (Borowski 2022). In such a scenario ecological farmland or natural forest may be repurposed to large-scale agricultural production, while the overall productivity is predisposed to decrease at the same time, if the cost of applying agricultural inputs due to an increase in gas prices surpasses that of the potential economic gains at harvest, leading to a cycle of changes in land-use and increasing greenhouse gas emissions (Agnoletti & Santoro 2022; Blöschl 2022). A reduction in the diversity of cultivated crops within an agricultural production setting consequently diminishes the dilution effect. The dilution effect is an ecological concept that denotes the resilience of an ecosystem against potential pathogenic organisms (Pretty 2008; Khalil et al. 2016).

Environmental sustainability in Europe | The homogenization of production settings at a landscape scale includes reduction of complexity in crop rotations and deforestation. Homogenization caused by policies relating to the energy crisis may therefore elevate the incidence of plant-pathogens and disease in fields as per the dilution effect. Superimposed elements such as plant pathogens affect productivity at field-level. Plant diseases reduce wheat yields by 10-28% (Savary et al. 2019), and FHB which is caused by a conglomerate of *Fusarium* species similarly reduces quantitative yields by up to 26% in barley (Nganje et al. 2004). The need for greater environmental, social, and economic sustainability is therefore apparent in agricultural production systems in Europe especially in the face of climate change, which is expected to add additional layers of stressors to food production systems. Indeed, the 2022 climate change report from the intergovernmental panel on climate change (IPCC) elucidates the impacts of such stressors. Amongst these, a three-fold increase in droughts and heatwaves have been observed in Europe (Brás et al. 2021), and the pole-ward migration of important crop pests and pathogens (Bebber et al. 2013). The report then calls for increased utilization of ecosystem-based solutions such as agroforestry, which aids in the exploitation of different niches in agricultural production settings, as well as agroecological principles, both of which have the potential to increase food system resilience as well as productivity in the face of climate change (Kerr Bezner et al. 2022).

1.4 Quality parameters in beer production

Gushing in beer production | Gushing, a quality reducing phenomenon occurring during the brewing process is characterized by abrupt and excessive production of foam upon opening of storage containers. This undesired phenomenon results in substantial economic losses. Primary beer gushing is induced by the occurrence of filamentous fungi and dimorphic yeasts during the malting process, unlike secondary gushing which depends upon faults occurring during the brewing process, such as the addition of excess carbon dioxide (Virkajärvi et al. 2017a). Indeed, the prevalence of primary gushing during downstream production stages is closely associated with the presence of FHB infected grains used in the malting and brewing phases of beer production (Mastanjević et al. 2018). The mechanism behind primary gushing involves the presence of micro-bubbles within beer containers, with nucleation centres primarily attributed to the presence of fungal hydrophobins during the brewing process (Wolf-Hall 2007).

Hydrophobins as gushing-inducing proteins | Hydrophobins are a group of small, 7 - 15 kDa, globular proteins which are employed by fungi for aerial growth and hyphal adherence to solid surfaces. Hydrophobins are separated into two classes (class I and class II) depending on their solubility in acids (Linder et al. 2005; Shokribousjein et al. 2011). Exuded hydrophobins reduce water surface tension that results in the formation of an amphipathic interface. As the fungal hyphal network expands, newly exuded hydrophobins are intercalated into the amphipathic bilayer (Shokribousjein et al. 2011). In short, plant-pathogenic fungi utilize hydrophobins for attachment, and to stick to their hosts, which facilitates the early stages of the infection cycle (Paananen et al. 2003). In beer bottles hydrophobin concentrations in the range of 1 mg/L is sufficient to induce gushing, but this threshold value varies as per the type of hydrophobin (Sarlin et al. 2005b). Hydrophobins induce gushing by stabilizing microbubbles found in beer, and the change of internal pressure when opening a beer bottle causes a cascade effect of stabilized micro-bubble explosions, bubble re-nucleation, bubble growth, and finally bubble explosion - with these four steps occurring simultaneously (Shokribousjein et al. 2011).

Ascomycetes and hydrophobins | Class II hydrophobins is the only class which has been shown to induce gushing in beer and are primary metabolites of ascomycetes (Linder et al. 2005). Currently, gushing is primarily attributed to class II hydrophobin prolific species within the genus *Fusarium* (Linder et al. 2005; Minenko et al. 2014). Non-*Fusarium* fungal genera such as *Aspergillus* and *Penicillium* have also been reported to produce hydrophobins that induce gushing in beer (Virkajärvi et al. 2017a).

ns-LTPs as part of gushing | Other gushing inducing factors such as plantderived non-specific lipid transfer proteins (ns-LTPs) are small ubiquitous proteins involved in the transfer of proteins across lipid membranes. Their functions in plants include cuticle synthesis and loosening of the cell wall (Iqbal et al. 2023). As pathogenesis related proteins, ns-LTPs also have a functional role in host defence against invading phytopathogens by inducing the efflux of intercellular ions in the invading pathogen (Selitrennikoff 2001). The protein ns-LTP1 is abundant in the endosperm of barley grains, when present in normal amounts ns-LTP1 aids in the formation of beer foam. However, both abiotic and biotic stressors can induce the accumulation of ns-LTP1 in the endosperm, leading to an overproduction of foam, and induction of gushing when beer containers are depressurised (Hippeli & Elstner 2002).

Detecting gushing | Methods used for the detection and prediction of gushing inducing factors such as hydrophobins during beer production includes the doubly Modified Carlsberg Test (M2CT) and other similar varieties of it. M2CT emulates brewing conditions and measures the total amount of over-foaming from bottles measured in grams (Deckers et al. 2012). Dynamic light scattering (DLS) detects particle sizes in solution and therefore allows for the identification of micro-bubbles stabilized by hydrophobins – this method also allows breweries and researchers to discriminate between primary and secondary gushing due to the differential radius of the two types of micro-bubbles (Deckers et al. 2012). Finally, competitive enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) can be used for the detection of hydrophobins in malt extracts via the use of antibodies. However, ELISA fails to detect hydrophobin concentrations of less than 100 µg/mL (Sarlin et al. 2005b). As for the development of new methodologies, Stilman et al. (2022) developed a tabletop sensor that can detect hydrophobins at concentrations no lower than 30 ng/mL in beer, this method relies on impendence spectroscopy and the use of molecularly imprinted polymers.

Pink kernels as an indicator | The previously mentioned methods are only able to be used for quality verification once malting of the barley has taken place. Another indicator commonly used in industry to predict gushing is the presence of pink kernels in seed samples taken at farm level, before arrival at the maltsters. Due to the correlation between pink kernels and kernels infected with *Fusarium* fungi, this quality-verification step can be taken before the malting process which discards seed-batches with poor quality or high FHB incidence (Schwarz et al. 1996). The instrument CGrain Value[™] is an example of pre-malting analysis of seed batches for the presence of pink kernels. CGrain Value[™], developed by CGrain AB, automatically analyses seed batches for the abundance of seeds from agricultural weeds, pink kernels, and husk damage. Each seed is evaluated independently, and a top-down photo is taken of a kernel as it is moved through a chamber with optical mirrors allowing for a view of 90% of the surface of a given kernel of barley – the analysis is done at a rate of 8-12 kernels per second (Cgrain 2016).

FHB and mycotoxins in beer and malt | From a global perspective, FHB is caused by a complex of up to 20 different *Fusarium* species (Karlsson et al. 2021),

and infections are generally favoured by warm and humid climactic conditions (Rossi et al. 2001). Among the 20 causative agents of FHB, the four most common species causing FHB in Europe are F. culmorum F. avenaceum, F. graminearum, and F. poae (Karlsson et al. 2021). In addition to the yield losses caused by FHB, which vary between 10 - 30% in small grains, accumulation of mycotoxins in grain during both pre-, and post-harvest storage (Table 1) poses a risk to human and animal welfare (Bottalico 1998). The presence of Fusarium mycotoxins has been documented in beer from both artisanal and industrial breweries alike, where deoxynivalenol and zearalenone are among the more common mycotoxins found in alcoholic beer (Schabo et al. 2021). A typical indicator of FHB infections is the presence of pink kernels in seed lots. Pink kernels exhibit their pinkish discoloration due to the presence of polyketide pigments, which are secondary metabolites produced by many Fusarium species during their metabolic processes (Thomas & Tirumale 2022). One study found F. avenaceum to have a particularly high correlation with the incidence of pink kernels in seed lots from Slovakia (Hudec 2007).

Table 1. Mycotoxins commonly associated with FHB, their effects on cellular functions, and food content limitations for mycotoxins. Mycotoxins frequently found in beer has been marked with an asterisk (*) (Schabo et al. 2021). Cellular mechanisms adapted from Bertero et al. 2018, and food thresholds from Commission Regulation (EC) No 1881/2006 of 19 December 2006 setting maximum levels for certain contaminants in foodstuffs.

| Mycotoxin | Cellular mechanisms in animals | Threshold in |
|--------------------|--|--------------|
| | | foodstuffs |
| Zearalenone | Endocrine disruptor causing ovarian atrophy, and | 100 mg/kg |
| (ZEA)* | alterations to the reproductive tract. | |
| Beauvericin | Induction of apoptosis via calcium-dependent | - |
| (BEA) | endonuclease, and endocrine disruption of hormone | |
| | receptor transcription. | |
| Deoxynivalenol | Activation of mitogen activated protein kinase | 1 250 mg/kg |
| (DON)* | signalling pathways, leading to apoptosis and cellular | |
| | damage. Ribotoxic stress, and inhibition of protein | |
| | synthesis. | |
| $Fumosin-B_1$ | Inhibition of sphingosine, leading to inhibition of cell | 800 mg/kg |
| (FB ₁) | regulation in blood and urine. Known carcinogen with | |
| | species-, and gender-specific effects. | |
| T-2 toxin | Inhibition of RNA and DNA synthesis, induction of | 200 mg/kg |
| (T2)* | apoptosis and lipid peroxidation leading to immune | |
| | system impairment. | |

1.5 Fungal community composition in barley

Fungal associations with barley kernels | The phyllosphere, or aerial and aboveground parts of plants, including flowers, fruits, and leaves are colonized by a conglomerate of prokaryotic, and eukaryotic microorganisms (Bashir et al. 2022). Revealing the microbial diversity in the phyllosphere can be accomplished through molecular analyses, such as metabarcoding via PCR amplification and sequencing of the internal transcribed spacer region (ITS) of fungi, or shotgun genomic approaches. The former provides a more focused view of a kingdom's phylogeny, while the latter offers broader insights into the genetic diversity within microbial communities (Quince et al. 2017; Nayfach et al. 2021). Nielsen et al. (2011) documented a negative correlation between the two Microdochium species M. *majus* and *M. nivale* and *Fusarium* in Danish grains (Nielsen et al. 2011). Similarly, a study by Rojas et al (2020) documented a reduction in diversity of fungal communities on wheat kernels when Fusarium species dominated. In the same study, the authors identified several fungal endophytes which have a negative correlation with including the fungal genera Itersonilia, and Cladosporium. The same study also documented a temporal variation of fungal clades over the growing season, where *Basidiomycota* were found to dominate the fungal communities early in the growing season, but a shift towards communities with a greater abundance of Ascomycota was observed during wheat kernel development and maturation (Rojas et al. 2020). The microbiome is indeed a complex and highly dynamic environment, with fungal communities being tissue and genotype specific while aboveground communities are more dynamic than that of fungal communities in belowground plant tissues such as roots (Malacrinò et al. 2023; Sapkota et al. 2023).

2. Materials and methods

The data analysis pertaining to this study builds upon data obtained from plant material collected in 2020. Ergosterol, DNA extraction, and amplicon sequencing was carried out during 2021-2022.

2.1 Methodological theory

2.1.1 Decision trees

The construction of decision trees follows the theory supplied in James et al. (2013). As a supervised machine learning algorithm, decision trees can be used for the prediction of either categorical or continuous dependent variables and are therefore known as either classification or regression trees. An individual decision tree is built upon the idea of data stratification, wherein the predictor space, or P possible values for an independent variable (IV): $X_1 \rightarrow X_P$, is divided into J number of distinct and non-overlapping regions: $R_1 \rightarrow R_J$. For each observation which is contingent to region R_j is assigned the same prediction, namely the mean response values for the training observations in R_j . For regression trees the stratification of data into separate regions is optimized to reduce the mean squared error (MSE) of the model. A residual is the difference between the actual value (y_i) and the predicted value within region R_j (\hat{y}_{R_j}), and the MSE is the average of the sum of all residuals squared (Equation 1); other split criterions are also common, residual sums squared, Friedman mean squared error, absolute error, and Poisson deviance.

Equation 1. Mean squared error (MSE), which is a metric used to evaluate the performance of a regression decision tree by quantifying the discrepancy between the actual target values (y_i) and the predicted values within each region R_i (\hat{y}_{R_i})

$$MSE = \sum_{j=1}^{J} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i \in R_j}^{n} (y_i - \hat{y}_{R_j})^2$$

Recursive binary splitting is used for the partitioning of the IV space, meaning that IV region splits are top-down and occur successively. All data is therefore pooled at the top of a decision tree. When conducting a split (Equation 2), the model

does not take future splits into account, and is therefore based upon the split which yields the lowest MSE at that point in the data partitioning process (Equation 3).

Equation 2. Two regions are defined as $R_1(j,s)$ and $R_2(j,s)$, the creation of which result from partitioning the predictor space based on a specific feature (j) and a split point (s). $R_1(j,s)$ comprises all the data points for which the value of the selected IV (X_j) is less than the value of s, whereas $R_2(j,s)$ encompasses all the data points for which the value of the selected IV is greater than or equal s.

$$R_1(j,s) = \{X | X_j < s\} and R_2(j,s) = \{X | X_j \ge s\}$$

Equation 3. The equation delineates the criterion for determining the optimal feature (j) and split point (s). This optimization process seeks to minimize the sum of squared residuals within the two resulting regions, R1(j, s) and R2(j, s), formed by partitioning the data based on the chosen feature (j) and its corresponding threshold (s). In the equation, y_i represents the actual target value for each data point, while \hat{y}_{R_1} and \hat{y}_{R_2} denote the respective mean predicted values in the regions R_1 and R_2 .

$$\sum_{i:x_i \in R_1(j,s)} (y_i - \hat{y}_{R_1})^2 + \sum_{i:x_i \in R_2(j,s)} (y_i - \hat{y}_{R_2})^2$$

In a similar fashion to regression trees, classification trees rely on recursive binary splitting, but since the response is qualitative, the use of MSE is no longer possible. Instead, the minimization of the Gini index, or other classification-based error metrics can be used to evaluate the best the split for a given IV (Equation 4). A lower Gini index indicates a higher degree of purity within a given node of the decision tree, facilitating the identification of optimal IV splits during the construction of a classification tree.

Equation 4. The Gini index (G) is calculated by summing the product of the estimated class probability (\hat{p}_{mk}) in the mth region that are from the kth class, and its complement $(1 - \hat{p}_{mk})$ for each class k, where K represents the total number of classes.

$$G = \sum_{k=1}^{K} \hat{p}_{mk} (1 - \hat{p}_{mk})$$

2.1.2 Random forests

Random forests are aggregated prediction models using decision trees as building blocks to construct more robust models with lower variance, while simultaneously reducing the risk of overfitting. The result is a RF with a higher degree of reproducibility, partly due to employing bootstrap aggregation on the set of training data. Bootstrap aggregation is the process by which multiple new data sets are generated by repeatedly sampling data from the main training data set, finally the reduction of variance comes from averaging the observations in the bootstrap, which in turn yields a predictive model with reduced variance (Equation 5). In this manner hundreds of decision trees can be combined for more robust results.

Equation 5. A bootstrap aggregated ensemble model consisting of B number of base models for the input $x(\hat{f}_{bag}(x))$ is constructed by repeated sampling of the b^{th} base model with input $x(\hat{f}^{*b}(x))$. The result is then averaged to reduce variance of the aggregated ensemble model.

$$\hat{f}_{bag}(x) = \frac{1}{B} \sum_{b=1}^{B} \hat{f}^{*b}(x)$$

Random forests utilize bootstrap aggregation together with a methodology built on randomness which decorrelates the individual trees that constitutes the random forest – hence their denotation as *random* forests. When a split is considered while constructing one of the base decision trees, a random sample of m IVs are chosen from the full set of p IVs as candidates for the split. This allows for the individual trees to be decorrelated, since on average strong IVs are not represented in m as long as $m \neq p$. Typically, $m \approx \sqrt{p}$ since it generally produces the lowest RSS or Gini index. The result from a random forest model is the relative importance of each IV for predicting the dependent variable, however the method varies between regression and classification problems. For regression random forests the total decrease of MSE (or other error measurement) for a given IV, averaged over all Bbase decision tree models are represented as that IVs relative feature importance. The methodology is similar for that of classification random forests, the decrease of the Gini index for a given IV is totalled and then finally averaged over all Bdecision tree models.

2.2 Sample collection

A total of 101 seed samples of malting barley cultivar Planet, harvested in 2020, were collected from three seed handling sites in the southern and central parts Sweden - Malmö, Lidköping, and Köping. An initial analysis testing for the presence of pink kernels in each of the samples was performed using a Cgrain ValueTM image analysis instrument. Based on this, 70 rejected ($\geq 0.1\%$ pink kernels) and 31 accepted seed lots were identified. Parallel samples to those initially analysed were collected, the weight of which ranged from 417 to-1130 g.

The samples were stored in plastic bags for 6-8 months before further analyses. To exclude samples with risk for fungal growth during storage, only samples with a water-content of less than 15% were selected. The samples were cleaned using a Pfeuffer SLN4 sample cleaner, with aspiration for 60 seconds to remove dust, and sieving to remove weed and straw material. Seed sizes between 220 mm and 450 mm were categorized as potential barley seeds and were kept for further analyses. Aspiration and sieving were done by the Department of Soil and Environment, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (Uppsala, Sweden).

2.3 Ergosterol content

To estimate the ergosterol content of the samples, a near-infrared transmittance measurement assay was conducted using an InfratecTM NOVA 400 - 1100 nm monochromator using a calibration developed by FOSS (Hillerød, Denmark). Data was recorded using a silicon sensor with an optimal bandwidth of 7 nm. The ergosterol measurements were carried out at the Department of Soil and Environment, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (Uppsala, Sweden).

2.4 Image analysis

Seed samples were divided into sub-samples using a seed sample divider, into one sub-sample of 160 - 161 g (sub-samples A), and one of 50-51 g (sub-samples B). The content of pink-kernels in each sub-sample was determined using a Cgrain ValueTM image analysis instrument. The sub-sampling procedure was repeated until the difference in pink kernel content between sub-samples A and B was less than 0.2%.

2.5 Modified Carlsberg test

Gushing potential of seed samples was analysed using Modified Carlsberg tests performed by the Research Center Weihenstephen for Brewing and Food Quality (BLQ) at the Technical University of Münich, Germany. Sub-samples A were coarsely ground and homogenized. 100 g of the coarse grist was blended for 60 seconds with 400 millilitres of distilled water in a laboratory mixer (15 000 rpm) at room temperature. The mixture was centrifuged (RCF of 4 500 g, 10 min) and 300 millilitres of the supernatant was reduced through boiling to a volume of 200 millilitres. Aliquots were measured and filtered from the supernatant and allowed to cool down to room temperature (20°C). 5 millilitres of sodium aside stock solution was added to each aliquot, which was then diluted with sterile water to a total volume of 200 millilitres. The 50 mL aliquot was added to each three bottles of standardized table water (0.33 L Bonaqa[®]) and the bottle was shaken horizontally for 72 hours at 20 °C. After the process of shaking and opening the bottle, the weight of liquid flowing out from the bottle was determined and taken as a measure of the gushing potential for the sample. The mean amount from three replicate bottles was used as the final value for gushing.

2.6 DNA extraction and amplicon sequencing

2.6.1 DNA extraction

Sub-samples B were finely ground and homogenized using a DeLonghi KG40 coffee grinder. For each sample two 0.1 g aliquots of ground barley grain were used for DNA extraction using the NucleoSpin[®] Plant II (Macherey-Nagel, Germany) and following the manufacturer's instructions with the following modifications: After adding the cell lysis Buffer PL1, samples were homogenized using a Precellys Evolution (2x5,500 RPM for 35 seconds) (Bertin Technologies) and vortexed. Subsequently, 10 μ L of RNase A was added to the extract. After completing the extraction, DNA from the two tubes originating from the same sample were pooled. DNA concentrations were measured using a NanoDropTM spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA).

2.6.2 Amplicon preparation

Fungal communities on the seeds were characterized through amplicon sequencing of the ITS2 region. PCR was performed using the fungal specific primers fITS7 (5'-GTGARTCATCGAATCTTTG-3') (Ihrmark et al. 2012) and ITS4 (5'-TCCTCCGCTTATTGATATGC-3') (White et al. 1990), both of which were extended by a linker base (T), sample-specific 8-base identification tags (which differed in at least three positions), and a terminal base (C) as described in Ihrmark et al. (2012) and Clemmensen et al. (2016).

PCR reactions were carried out in 50-µl volumes containing 0.8 ng/µl template DNA, 200 µM of each dNTP, 2.75 mM MgCl2, 500 nM tagged forward primer, 300 nM tagged reverse primer, and 0.02 U/µl DreamTaq Green polymerase (Thermo Scientific, Massachusetts, USA) in the provided PCR buffer. The thermal cycling conditions included an initial denaturation step at 94°C for 5 minutes, followed by 25–31 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 57°C for 30 seconds, and extension at 72°C for 30 seconds, with a final extension step at 72°C for 7 minutes.

PCR products were purified individually using the AMPure kit (Beckman Coulter, California, USA) and quantified fluorometrically with the Qubit DNA quantification kit (Life Technologies, California, USA). The purified PCR products were pooled and further purified with E.Z.N.A.® Cycle-Pure kit (Omega Bio-Tek, Norcross, Georgia, USA).

The size distribution and quality of all the pools were verified with BioAnalyzer DNA 7500 (Agilent Technologies, California, USA), with ITS2 amplicons ranging between 280 and 380 bp. Concentration and purity were assessed by spectrophotometry (OD 260:280 and 260:230 ratios) using NanoDrop (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA). The DNA samples were sequenced at

Science for Life Laboratory (Uppsala University, Sweden) on a Pacific Biosciences Sequel instrument II, using 1 SMRT cell (Pacific Biosciences Inc, California, USA).

2.7 Data analysis

2.7.1 Clustering

SCATA (https://scata.mykopat.slu.se) was used to process, clean and cluster the amplified and sequenced ITS2 fungal reads from the barley kernels (Durling et al. 2011). This was done in accordance with recommendations given by Lindahl et al. (2013). Unprocessed DNA sequences were quality filtered to remove reads shorter than 150 base-pairs. Reads with an error probability greater than 1 in 100 (Score of \leq 20), and bases with an error probability greater than 1 in 10 (Score of \leq 5) were discarded. One sample yielded no reads and was discarded. Sequences were screened for primers and tags, sequences with at least a 90% match to the primers, and a 100% match to the tags were preserved. The total number of raw DNA sequences prior to quality control steps totalled 387 734, after filtering and quality control 206 529 reads remained. The following penalties were set for the singlelinkage clustering of reads into species-level operational taxonomic units (OTUs) with a clustering distance of 1.5% using SCATA: 1 for base mismatches, 0 for opening a gap in the sequence, 1 for each extension of opened gaps, 0 for gaps at the beginning or end of aligned sequences. The resulting 230 OTUs were preliminarily annotated using RDP classifier (Wang et al. 2007) to identify nonfungal sequences, any identified non-fungal sequence was verified using the NCBI SRA database (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sra). Non-fungal OTUs were mainly of plant origin. The most commonly occurring of these non-fungal OTUs was barley. Finally, OTUs with at least 10 reads across all 100 samples were used for further species annotation and statistical analyses, yielding 83 OTUs in total.

2.7.2 Sequence annotation

Taxonomical annotation was carried out manually on the preliminarily annotated OTUs using PlutoF and UNITE (https://unite.ut.ee/) (Abarenkov et al. 2010; Nilsson et al. 2019). The annotation was made in two stages: The first stage involved assessing the score metric, which measures the mismatches between the query sequence and the fungal sequences in the database, as well as the percentage coverage between the fungal sequence and the query sequence. The second stage focused on examining metadata for the fungal species selected in the first evaluation, including the sequence source, the geographical origin of the sample, interacting taxa, and the total number of samples associated with the specific

species. If the suggested species did not align with the study samples in terms of geographical origin, sequence source, or interacting taxa, the evaluation process was repeated for the second-highest-scoring suggestion.

Three different species complexes were created to accommodate for the limited variability of the ITS2 region in fungi belonging to the *Microdochium* and *Fusarium* genera (O'Donnell et al. 2013). The species complexes were named *Fusarium grp. avenaceum*, *Fusarium grp. poae*, and *Microdochium grp. nivale*. *F. grp. avenaceum* consisted of the species *F. avenaceum*, and *F. tricinctum*. *Fusarium grp. poae* consisted of the species *F. poae*, *F. oxysporum*, *F. langsethiae*, and *F. sporotrichioides*. *Microdochium grp. nivale* consisted of the species *M. nivale*, and *M. bolleyi* (O'Donnell et al. 2013; Tsers et al. 2023). Even though many OTUs are annotated at species level, it is possible that this estimation is too generous considering the variability of the ITS2 region and the sequencing depth; closely related species could, for example, benefit from being grouped into species complexes.

After identifying putative species, the read counts for each OTU in each sample were converted into percentages of the total reads across all OTUs in a sample. These percentages were then multiplied by the ergosterol content of each sample, providing a relative estimate of the mass for each OTU present in a sample, expressed as $\frac{mg \, ergosterol}{kg \, cereal}$.

2.7.3 Construction of random forests

The random forest models were constructed using the scikit learn package in Python (Pedregosa et al. 2021). Four classification forests were built to predict gushing, and two regression forests were constructed to predict the percentage of pink kernels. Prior to constructing the models, the data was processed as follows: The gushing measurements were converted from a continuous variable to a true or false binary variable based on two different thresholds: 4 g which is the industry standard and 10 g, respectively. OTU entries belonging to the same species were merged, and the same approach was used to merge OTUs belonging to the same genus. Missing germination data for three samples were imputed by setting them equal to the mean of the germination rates across all samples.

The following parameters were used in the random forest models:

- 1. *n_estimators*: the number of trees in the forest was set to 500.
- 2. *max_features*: the number of features to consider when looking for the best split was set to \sqrt{p} , as recommended by James et al. 2013.
- 3. *criterion*: the function used to measure the quality of a split was set to "*gini*" for the Gini impurity index when using gushing as the dependent

variable, and "*squared_error*" for the mean squared error when pink kernels was set as the dependent variable.

4. *random_state*: the seed, which is used by the random number generator was set to 0 prior to any analyses.

The data was split into training and testing datasets using the *train_test_split* function at an 80/20 training-to-testing ratio. The random forest models were fit on the training set and evaluated on the testing set using the F1 score, calculated using the *f1_score* function. Additionally, confusion matrices were constructed for each classification model using the *confusion_matrix* function. To ensure the reliability of the results, the random forest modeling process was repeated 10 times using different random seeds, and the mean and standard deviation of the evaluation metrics (F1 score, out-of-bag error rate, and MSE) were calculated.

2.7.4 NMDS

Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) analysis was conducted using the vegan package in R (Oksanen et al. 2022). The data used in the NMDS analysis consisted of the OTUs and the geographical region from which each sample originated from, i.e., Köping, Lidköping, or Malmö. The resulting OTU data and metadata were stored in separate dataframes.

The Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrix was calculated for the species data using the *vegdist* function with the method set to "*bray*". The metaMDS function was then used to perform the NMDS analysis on the dissimilarity matrix with the *trymax* method set to 100 iterations to ensure convergence for the ordination. The resulting NMDS scores were stored in a data frame along with the region information from the metadata. The NMDS scores were then plotted onto scatter plot and coloured by region. In addition, ellipses were drawn around the points of the same region to show the distribution of samples within each region. Ellipses were created for each region using the *stat_ellipse* function with the confidence level set to 0.95 using the method "*level*" which represents 95% of all samples from a given region.

2.7.5 Software and Packages Used for Data Analysis and Visualisations

The creation of histograms utilized Python, employing packages such as pandas (McKinney 2022), along with seaborn (Waskom 2022) and matplotlib (Hunter 2022). Visualisation of hierarchical data was achieved using a krona diagram, generated by a scripted Excel file, accessible at https://github.com/marbl/Krona and credited to Ondov and colleagues in 2011. Bar plots, and the NMDS analysis were generated using the programming language R, and more specifically the

collection of packages named "Tidyverse" and Vegan (Wickham & RStudio 2019; Oksanen et al. 2022).

3. Results

3.1 Sample Characteristics and Distributions

Skewed distributions among gushing and pink kernels | The distribution of pink kernels among the samples was skewed towards the lower values, resulting in an unsymmetrical distribution. The distribution of gushing in g per 330g among the samples was heavily skewed towards the lower values (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Histograms of barley samples, depicting sample count for (A) the percentage of pink kernels per sample (n=101) and (B) gushing values (gushing g/330g).

3.2 Sample Similarities Across Sites

NMDS reveals no separations between sites | The NMDS analysis conducted on the community data shows no separations between the three sites from which the samples used in this study were gathered from (Fig. 3).



Figure 3. Non-metric multidimensional scaling plot using community data. Each point represents one sample, with colouring of the points based upon regional origin. The dashed ellipses, drawn with a 95% confidence interval, group samples from the same region. Stress value of fit: 0.047.

3.3 Abundance of Fungal Taxa

Four fungal species represent 70% of abundance | The relative abundance and taxonomic distribution of annotated fungal OTUs adjusted for the ergosterol content in each barley sample showed that the 4 most abundant species were *Alternaria infectoria* representing 34% of the community, *Fusarium grp. avenaceum* representing 16% of the community, and *Cladosporium herbarum* and *Vishniacozyma victoriae* (syn. *Cryptococcus victoriae*) both representing 10% of the community each. The most common fungal phylum was Ascomycota. The full list of annotated OTUs is available in table 1, Appendix 1.



Figure 4. Krona diagram of diversity and relative abundance of annotated fungal OTUs identified in barley kernels. The diagram provides a hierarchical representation of the fungal community, with each level depicting a taxonomic rank (i.e., phylum, class, order, family, genus, and species). The size of each segment indicates the relative abundance of the corresponding taxon. Abundance of OTUs were adjusted for ergosterol content of the samples.

3.4 Fungal OTU Abundance and Community Composition Across Gushing Categories

Increased *Fusarium* **abundance in higher gushing-instances** | Abundance and community composition of fungal OTUs in barley samples was divided into four distinct gushing categories: 0 g, 1-4 g, 4-10 g, and >10 g. In all gushing categories, *Alternaria infectoria* consistently exhibited the highest mean ergosterol values: 4.43, 4.55, 4.13, and 4.06 mg/kg, respectively. In the highest gushing category *Fusarium grp. avenaceum* demonstrated a four-to-five fold increase in mean ergosterol content (2.65) compared to its values in the other categories (0.58, 0.58, 0.78). Similarly, *Fusarium grp. poae* presented a relatively low mean ergosterol content in the first three categories (0.17, 0.12, 0.17) but experienced a three-fold increase (0.47) in the >10 g gushing category.



Figure 5. Abundance and community structure of fungal OTUs in barley samples divided by gushing categories (0 g, 1-4 g, 4-10 g, and >10 g). Bar height displays fungal abundance as estimated by ergosterol content of samples in each category. Each bar segment represents a specific fungal OTU. Fungal OTUs with a mean ergosterol value below 0.05 mg/kg cereal were grouped into the category "Others".

3.5 Predicting Gushing: A comparative Analysis of Random Forest Models and Thresholds

Fusarium is the most important IV followed by sample independent variables Four classification random forest models were developed to assess the relative importance of various IVs in predicting gushing. Two of these models utilized fungal community data at species-level (Fig. 6 & 7), while the other two utilized data at the genus-level (Fig. 8 & 9). In addition to fungal community data, barley sample independent variables including specific weight, total ergosterol content, water content, CgrainA (percentage of pink kernels), protein content, and germination rate were also used as IVs to predict gushing at the two pre-defined thresholds (4g and 10g). The model predicting gushing at a 4 g threshold using data at species-level (Fig. 6) exhibited an out-of-bag (OOB) error rate of 9% and an F1 score of 84%. Similarly, the model predicting gushing at a 10 g threshold (Figure 7) exhibited an OOB error rate of 9% and an F1 score of 84%. None of the models produced any misclassifications, which can be seen in the respective confusion matrices. For the random forest model built using gushing at a 4 g threshold as the dependent variable (Fig. 6), the most important IV identified was Fusarium grp. avenaceum (7.7% importance), followed by specific weight (5.5% importance) and total ergosterol content (5.3% importance). Other IVs, including Fusarium grp. poae (4.3% importance), Trametes trogii (4.2% importance), and Microdochium grp. nivale (4.1% importance), contributed to a lesser but comparable degree in determining gushing propensity. For the model using gushing set a 10 g threshold as the dependent variable (Fig. 7), the most influential IV was Fusarium grp. avenaceum (7% importance), followed by water content (4.6% importance) and specific weight (4.6% importance). IVs such as total ergosterol (4.4% importance), Trametes trogii (4% importance), and Fusarium grp. poae (3.9% importance) contributed to a lesser but comparable extent in predicting gushing.



Figure 6. A. Random forest predicting gushing set to a categorical variable using a 4g threshold. Independent variables are the putative fungal species of the annotated OTUs, and related sample independent variables. The model had an F1 score of 0.84 ± 0.1 and an out-of-bag error rate of 0.19 ± 0.02 . B. Confusion matrix displaying the classification accuracy for the random forest predicting gushing set to a 4g threshold.



Figure 7. A. Random forest predicting gushing set to a categorical variable using a 10g threshold. Independent variables are the putative fungal species based on the annotated OTUs, and related sample independent variables. The model had an F1 score of 0.84 ± 0.08 and an out-of-bag error rate of 0.19 ± 0.02 . B. Confusion matrix displaying the classification accuracy for the random forest predicting gushing set to a 10g threshold.

The genus Fusarium is the best predictor of gushing | The model predicting gushing at a 4 g threshold using data at genus level (Figure 8) exhibited an out-ofbag (OOB) error rate of 19% and an F1 score of 82%. Similarly, the model predicting gushing at a 10 g threshold (Figure 9) demonstrated an OOB error rate of 19% and an F1 score of 83%. None of the models produced any misclassifications (Fig 8B & 9B). For the random forest model built using gushing at 4 g threshold as the dependent variable (Figure 8A), the most important IV identified was Fusarium (7.9% importance), followed by specific weight (6.1% importance) and water content (5.4% importance). Other IVs, including the basidiomycete Trametes (4.6% importance), total ergosterol (4.5% importance), and *Itersonilia* (4.1% importance), contributed to a lesser but comparable degree in determining gushing propensity. For the model using gushing set a 10 g threshold as the dependent variable (Figure 9A), the most influential IV was Fusarium (7.8% importance), followed by specific weight (5.5% importance) and Microdochium (4.5% importance). IVs such as water content (4.4% importance), total ergosterol (4.4% importance), and Trametes (3.9% importance) contributed to a lesser but comparable extent in predicting gushing.



Figure 8. A. Random forest predicting gushing set to a categorical variable using a 4g threshold. Independent variables are fungal genera based on the taxonomy of the annotated OTUs, and related sample independent variables. The model had an F1 score of 0.82 ± 0.09 and an out-of-bag error rate of 0.19 ± 0.03 . B. Confusion matrix for random forest predicting gushing set to a 4g threshold.



Figure 9. A. Random forest predicting gushing set to a categorical variable using a 10g threshold. Independent variables are fungal genera based on the taxonomy of the annotated OTUs, and related sample independent variables. The model had an F1 score of 0.83 ± 0.08 and an out-of-bag error rate of 0.19 ± 0.03 . B. Confusion matrix for random forest predicting gushing set to a 10g threshold.

3.6 Predicting pink kernels: A Comparative Analysis of Species and Genus-level models

Fusarium and yeasts are important IVs when predicting pink kernels | Two regression-based random forest models were developed to assess the relative importance of various IVs in predicting the percentage of pink kernels. Barley sample independent variables (e.g., specific weight, total ergosterol content, water content, CgrainA, protein content, and germination rate) were included as IVs. Moreover, one of these models utilized fungal community data at species-level (Fig. 10), while the other utilized data at the genus-level (Fig. 11). The random forest built to predict the percentage of pink kernels in a sample using data at species-level (Figure 10) identified specific weight as the most important IV (8.4% importance), followed by *Fusarium grp. avenaceum* (8.2% importance), and total ergosterol content (8% importance). The random forest built to predict the percentage of pink kernels built to predict the percentage of pink kernels built to predict the percentage). The random forest built to predict the percentage). The random forest built to predict the percentage of pink kernels built to predict the percentage of pink kernels built to predict the percentage). The random forest built to predict the percentage of pink kernels in a sample using data at genus-level (Figure 11) identified specific weight as the most importance), followed by *Fusarium* (8.2% importance), followed by *Fusarium* (8.2% importance).



Figure 10. Regression forest predicting the percentage of pink kernels in samples. Independent variables are putative fungal species based on the annotated OTUs, and related sample independent variables. The model had a mean squared error rate of 0.24 ± 0.2 and an out-of-bag error rate of 0.66 ± 0.1 .



Figure 11. Regression forest predicting the percentage of pink kernels in samples. Independent variables are fungal genera based on the taxonomy of the annotated OTUs, and related sample independent variables. The random forest model had a mean squared error rate of 0.24 ± 0.2 and an out-of-bag error rate of 0.66 ± 0.1 .

4. Discussion

4.1 Summary

The present study aimed to investigate the community composition of fungal species on malting barley kernels, and how identified species are associated with gushing-propensity and the presence of pink kernels.

Yeasts with high relative feature importance | When predicting gushing set at two distinct thresholds, using data at both species-, and genus-level the two species complexes of *Fusarium* were identified as the most important IVs. However, many other fungal genera had relatively high feature importance values, when predicting the percentage of pink kernels, yeasts belonging to the fungal genera *Vishniacozyma*, *Itersonilia*, *Dioszegia*, and *Sporobolomyces* were important IVs. *Itersonilia* was also an important fungal genus when predicting gushing set at a 10g threshold but had an even abundance across all gushing categories (Fig. 5). The abundance of *Vishniacozyma*, and *Sporobolomyces* decreased in samples with more gushing (Fig. 5).

The role of *Fusarium* in Swedish malt samples | *Fusarium* being the genus with the highest feature importance across all models is in line with current literature identifying FHB inducing *Fusarium* species as the main gushing-inducing fungal genus, the causality has been shown to be dependent on the production of ascomycete hydrophobins during the malting process. Hydrophobins act as gushing inducing factors during the beer production process (Sarlin et al. 2005a; Virkajärvi et al. 2017b; Geißinger et al. 2022). The results produced in this study further links *Fusarium* to gushing, wherein both *Fusarium* grp. *poae*, and *Fusarium* grp. *avenaceum* increased in the higher gushing categories. However, additional tests for statistical significance are needed between the different categories to validate this hypothesis. Supporting information can be found in current literature on the topic of gushing, indicating *Fusarium* to be highly correlated with gushing, due to the production of hydrophobins (Sarlin et al. 2005a; Geißinger et al. 2022).

4.2 Novel Roles: Vishniacozyma, Microdochium, and Itersonilia

The role of *Vishniacozyma* | The basidiomycete *Vishniacozyma* (incl. the yeast OTUs V. victoriae and V. sp. identified in this study) is recognized as an environmentally ubiquitous yeast in northern regions (Durán et al. 2019). Vujanovic (2021) reported plant-growth-promoting and mycoparasitic interactions between V. victoriae and FHB phytopathogens, corroborating on the finding of V. victoriae being the most prevalent basidiomycete as it was present across all gushing categories, but decreased in samples that gushed more (Fig. 5). V. victoriae is described to fill a separate ecological niche from filamentous fungi (Vujanovic 2021), which could help explain its consistent presence across all samples in this study. Additionally, the low relative feature importance of Vishniacozyma in predicting gushing (2.6%) is supported by the fact that yeasts typically do not produce the hydrophobins that are associated with gushing (Sarlin et al. 2005b). In contrast to the gushing analysis, V. victoriae has a higher feature importance when predicting the percentage of pink kernels in a sample (7.8%). Although the cause for this phenomenon remains unclear it is possible that V. victoriae causes a similar pinkish discolouration when colonizing the kernel, potentially utilizing similar polyketide pigments as Fusarium, which leads to an increase in the estimation of pink kernels, meaning that samples that might not induce gushing could be wrongly classified as containing too many pink kernels even though the discolouration originates from a non-Fusarium fungi.(Thomas & Tirumale 2022).

Microdochium a similar role as *Fusarium* | *Microdochium nivale* belongs to the same class as Fusarium, namely Sordariomycetes, and is recognized as a Fusarium-like fungus, sharing many structural similarities (Hernández-Restrepo et al. 2016). However, field infections of *M. nivale* manifest similar symptoms as FHB, the main difference being that *M. nivale* is non-toxigenic, meaning that there is no accumulation of mycotoxins in infected plant material during the infection cycle (Gavrilova et al. 2020). Microdochium grp. nivale was identified in this study and constitutes 1% of the fungal community. Despite this, *M. grp. nivale* had a high feature importance when predicting gushing (4.1%), but a relatively low feature importance in predicting pink kernels (2%), indicating an association between M. grp. nivale and the gushing phenomenon. This can be attributed to the fact that M. grp. nivale produces hydrophobins, as is expected of many filamentous ascomycetes, but lacks the typical pigmentation seen in cultured Fusarium. Therefore, samples that could induce gushing might not be detected using pink kernels as indicators if *Microdochium* is abundant, which may affect subsequent production processes such as malting and brewing.

Itersonilia another Tremellomycete | The fungal genus *Itersonilia* harbors known plant pathogens causing petal blight in plants belonging to the *Asteraceae* family, and canker in parsnips and carrots (McGovern et al. 2006). Itersonilia yeasts have been shown to co-occur with *Vishniacozyma* on FHB symptomatic wheat kernels sampled from Denmark and Sweden (Rojas et al. 2020). The relative feature importance of *Itersonilia* mimics the pattern of *Vishniacozyma*, highlighting the possibility that the two fungi share a similar ecological niche.

The role of *Trametes* remains mysterious | *T. trogii* is an environmentally ubiquitous fungi, having been documented on all continents, except for antarctica. *T. trogii* has a saprotrophic lifestyle, primarily as a white-rot fungi decomposing dead wood by employing ligninolytic compounds (Rivera-Hoyos et al. 2013). Hitherto this point, very little literature is available on *T. trogii* being found in agricultural fungal communities, however Gai et al. (2014) found *T. trogii* to be able to degrade wheat straw, highlighting that *T. trogii* can effectively colonize straw tissue, which could possibly explain its presence on stored barley kernels. The low relative abundance of *T. trogii* found in this study together with the high feature importance for predicting gushing (4.2%) and low feature importance (2%) for predicting pink kernels makes *T. trogii* an interesting subject for further studies.

4.3 Sustainable Management of Gushing in Beer Production

By considering a wider array fungal genera besides *Fusarium* and *Microdochium* when evaluating seed lots for gushing propensity, it is possible to improve social, economic, and environmental sustainability aspects tied to the production of malting barley.

4.3.1 Social Dimension: Information Access and Management Strategies

The social dimension | At present, there is a notable deficiency in accessible information for farmers and plant cultivators pertaining to the prevention and management of FHB and the occurrence of pink kernels. Current management suggestions are largely based upon the recommendations devised to mitigate mycotoxin accumulation (Jordbruksverket 2022). Consequently, an assumption has been made that the number of pink kernels in seed lots follow the same pattern as mycotoxin content and that, during years with prevalent mycotoxins, pink kernels must also be widespread (Almén 2020). In terms of species composition, this study has identified fungi that have high feature importance in predicting gushing but not in predicting pink kernels such as T. trogii. Microdochium is also known to be associated with FHB but is non-toxigenic. This means that using mycotoxin as an indicator during years when *Microdochium* induced FHB is prevalent leads to erroneous estimations of in-field FHB infestations. Such metrics might be misleading and cause malting barley seed lots to be wrongly relegated to animal feed leading to misunderstandings from the farmers perspective, and economic losses. To exemplify the complexity of gushing, sample 80 used in this study had a pink kernel content of 0.3% (i.e., above the industry threshold which is set at 0.1%), ergosterol content of 11 mg/kg cereal and but did not induce any gushing in the MCT analysis. Even so, sample 80 and the corresponding seed lot would have been relegated to animal feed. The findings documented in this study, such as the high feature importance of Sporobolomyces could therefore act as a foundation for decision making to be used in developing new management strategies, and in communicating the underlying complexity of gushing and the formation of pink kernels to farmers through agricultural extension practices (Danso-Abbeam et al. 2018).

4.3.2 Economic Dimension: Efficiency, Value Generation, and Food Sovereignty

The economic dimension | The insights generated from the analyses in this study, encompassing malting barley quality variables, gushing propensity, and the identification of novel indicators, not only enhance value generation and increase efficiency in the value chain but also have implications for food sovereignty. By reducing the misclassification of barley seed lots and improving utilization of malting barley, farmers and maltsters can achieve greater control over their production processes and resources. As a result, countries can become more selfreliant in their own food systems, contributing to the broader goal of food sovereignty (Hannah Wittman 2011). This, in turn, supports the rights of farmers to define their own agricultural policies, fostering more diverse production settings and strengthening the resilience of regional food systems in the face of food commodity market disruptions, such as Russia's proposed ban on wheat exports (Glauber et al. 2020). By promoting food sovereignty, these findings contribute to the establishment of sustainable, equitable, and resilient food systems that can better serve the needs of more diverse markets, exemplified by Sweden's beer market.

4.3.3 Environmental Dimension: Pesticide Use and Sustainable Practices

The environmental dimension | The results highlighted in this study also have important implications for the environmental sustainability of malting barley production, particularly in relation to the use of pesticides. At present, the assumption that *Fusarium* is the primary cause of pink discolouration in kernels may lead to unnecessary and excessive application of fungicides targeting this fungal genus (Almén 2020; Jordbruksverket 2022). However, the findings from the present study have revealed that non-Fusarium fungal genera may contribute to the formation of pink kernels or gushing propensity, indicating that Fusarium-focused fungicide treatments may not always be the most effective or appropriate approach. Indiscriminate use of fungicides can have negative environmental consequences, including harm to non-target organisms, reduction in biodiversity, long-term accumulation in soils, as well as the potential development of pesticide-resistant fungal strains (Yan et al. 2022). Furthermore, the reduction of pesticide use is inline with goals set by the European Union, as per the Green Deal, therefore unnecessary applications of fungicides should be avoided (Edlinger et al. 2022; Singh et al. 2023). In light of these findings, it is crucial to reconsider current management practices, and to develop strategies that take fungal diversity into account when combating the occurrence of pink kernels and gushing. This may include the use of integrated pest management approaches, which combines biological, and chemical methods to control pests while minimizing harm done to the environment. Prevention and management of FHB includes the removal of harvest debris and alternative weed hosts that allow *Fusarium* pathogens to persist in fields over longer periods of time, tillage has been shown to be especially effective in cereal-based crop rotations (Suproniene et al. 2019). Adaptation of similar practices, and further research on the topic can aid in discovering more sustainable agroecological solutions which in turn can foster a balance between crop protection, environmental preservation, and long-term agricultural productivity for malting barley producers.

4.4 Random Forest Limitations and Improvements in Study Design

Strengths and weaknesses of RFs | A RF is a machine learning method that can handle smaller datasets so long as the observations are of high quality. This is due to employing bootstrap aggregation, and the inherent strengths of the ensemble characteristic of random forests. To evaluate classification algorithms, confusion matrices, F1 scores, and the OOB error metrics were used, from which it was deduced that the models performed well on the supplied data. However, the performance metrics for the regression random forests were not ideal, with an OOB error rate of 60% and a root mean squared error (\sqrt{MSE}) that is greater than the mean. Another noted observation is the variability in the results when using different seeds in the data analysis, this can primarily be attributed to the randomness of the split of the dataset into a training and testing dataset, and secondly to the randomness of the random forest analysis itself, such as the random selection of IVs used to determine the quality of a split when partitioning the data.

Improving study design and analyses | Addressing these limitations can be achieved by increasing the sample size while ensuring less skewed distributions within the samples, improving the accuracy of the annotations, and assessing alternative machine learning techniques or performance metrics, such as permutation random forests, and gradient boosting classifiers. Additionally, incorporating significance testing may provide a more robust understanding of the relationships between the composition of fungal communities, gushing propensity, and the presence of pink kernels.

4.5 Conclusions and Future Research

4.5.1 Conclusions

This study showed that (I) A plethora of different fungal species, including yeasts and filamentous fungi, compose the communities in barley grains, species belonging to the fungal genera *Fusarium*, *Microdochium*, *Vishniacozyma*, *Alternaria*, and *Cladosporium* were present across samples analysed in this study. (II) Among other species identified in this study, *F. grp. poae*, *F. grp. avenaceum*, T. *trogii*, and *M. grp. nivale* were identified as the most important OTUs for predicting gushing. (III) Additionally, *F. grp. avenaceum*, *V. victoriae*, *S. roseus*, *Itersonilia sp.*, and *F. grp. poae* are the OTUs with the highest relative feature importance for predicting the percentage of pink kernels in a sample. It is essential to mention that this study was conducted using samples from only one growing season and across three sites in Southern Sweden, as such, broader implications are only discussed. Understanding how the identified species induce gushing or the formation of pink kernels will require further research.

4.5.2 Future research

Metagenomics – **who is there?** | Building on the findings of this study, there are several promising avenues for future research that can provide a greater context for gushing-, and barley-related research. The current study has provided insights into the fungal species present in barley grains, and their impact on gushing, as well as the presence of pink kernels, answering the question "Who is there?" but not "What are they doing?". Further research is therefore needed to establish a direct causality between the species identified in this study, and their respective roles in inducing gushing, and their ability to form pink kernels.

Metabolomics – what are they doing? | In this study amplicon sequencing and metagenomics has been utilized to disseminate the species present in fungal communities in barley grains to answer the question "Who is there?". To discuss the role or function of species of interest, relevant literature has been contextualized and analysed. The next step could be to verify this discussion by employing metabolomics, which is defined as a comprehensive and quantitative analysis of all metabolites in a biological system (Fiehn 2001). New insights can be gained by trying to understand how hitherto overlooked fungal species contribute to gushing by screening for secondary metabolites as constituents of their secretome or metabolome. Indeed, this has already been utilized to assess mycotoxin production and accumulation caused by the *Fusarium* species complex (Lowe et al. 2010). A similar analysis can be done to unveil the metabolome of *T. trogii*, and other relevant species identified in this study to verify their ability to induce gushing or to induce the formation of pink kernels.

Greenhouse experiments – **artificial inoculation** | Understanding fungal community interactions over time allows researchers to assess and characterize possible synergistic, or antagonistic interactions between species. To exemplify this, an *in-situ* study by Rojas et al. (2020) assessed the spatio-temporal shifts of fungal genera in communities on wheat spikes. Their findings indicate that there is both niche exclusion by *Fusarium*, and a negative correlation between *Fusarium* and other endophytes. Similar *Ex-situ* greenhouse experiments with, for example, artificial inoculation of pairs of species would allow for researchers to disseminate beneficial or antagonistic interactions between species, which could potentially aid in developing methodologies that can aid in determining the causality between the formation of pink kernels and gushing.

References

- Abarenkov, K., Tedersoo, L., Nilsson, R.H., Vellak, K., Saar, I., Veldre, V., Parmasto, E., Prous, M., Aan, A., Ots, M., Kurina, O., Ostonen, I., Jõgeva, J., Halapuu, S., Põldmaa, K., Toots, M., Truu, J., Larsson, K.-H. & Kõljalg, U. (2010). PlutoF—a Web Based Workbench for Ecological and Taxonomic Research, with an Online Implementation for Fungal ITS Sequences. *Evolutionary Bioinformatics*, 6, EBO.S6271. https://doi.org/10.4137/EBO.S6271
- Agnoletti, M. & Santoro, A. (2022). Agricultural heritage systems and agrobiodiversity. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 31 (10), 2231–2241. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-022-02460-3
- Almén, E. (2020). *The problem with pink kernels in malting barley*. Uppsala: Institutionen för skoglig mykologi och växtpatologi. http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:slu:epsilon-s-15814 [2023-05-03]
- Bashir, I., War, A.F., Rafiq, I., Reshi, Z.A., Rashid, I. & Shouche, Y.S. (2022). Phyllosphere microbiome: Diversity and functions. *Microbiological Research*, 254, 126888. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2021.126888
- Bebber, D.P., Ramotowski, M.A.T. & Gurr, S.J. (2013). Crop pests and pathogens move polewards in a warming world. *Nature Climate Change*, 3 (11), 985– 988. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1990
- Bertero, A., Moretti, A., Spicer, L. & Caloni, F. (2018). *Fusarium* Molds and Mycotoxins: Potential Species-Specific Effects. *Toxins*, 10 (6), 244. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins10060244
- Blöschl, G. (2022). Three hypotheses on changing river flood hazards. *Hydrology* and Earth System Sciences, 26 (19), 5015–5033. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-26-5015-2022
- Borowski, P.F. (2022). Mitigating Climate Change and the Development of Green Energy versus a Return to Fossil Fuels Due to the Energy Crisis in 2022. *Energies*, 15 (24), 9289. https://doi.org/10.3390/en15249289
- Bottalico, A. (1998). *FUSARIUM* DISEASES OF CEREALS: SPECIES COMPLEX AND RELATED MYCOTOXIN PROFILES, IN EUROPE. *Journal of Plant Pathology*, 80 (2), 85–103
- Brás, T.A., Seixas, J., Carvalhais, N. & Jägermeyr, J. (2021). Severity of drought and heatwave crop losses tripled over the last five decades in Europe. *Environmental Research Letters*, 16 (6), 065012. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abf004
- Briggs, D.E. (1998). *Malts and malting*. 1st ed. London; New York: Blackie Academic. [2023-02-02]
- Cgrain (2016). Cgrain. Innovating the Future of Agriculture with Artificial Intelligence. https://www.cgrain.se/technology/ [2023-03-01]
- Clemmensen, K.E., Ihrmark, K., Durling, M.B. & Lindahl, B.D. (2016). Sample Preparation for Fungal Community Analysis by High-Throughput Sequencing of Barcode Amplicons. In: Martin, F. & Uroz, S. (eds) *Microbial Environmental Genomics (MEG)*. New York, NY: Springer New York. 61–88. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-3369-3_4

- Commission Regulation (EC) No 1881/2006 of 19 December 2006 setting maximum levels for certain contaminants in foodstuffs (2023). . http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2006/1881/2023-01-01/eng [2023-02-17]
- Danso-Abbeam, G., Ehiakpor, D.S. & Aidoo, R. (2018). Agricultural extension and its effects on farm productivity and income: insight from Northern Ghana. *Agriculture & Food Security*, 7 (1), 74. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40066-018-0225-x
- Deckers, S.M., Vissers, L., Gebruers, K., Shokribousjein, Z., Khalesi, M., Riveros-Galan, D., Schönberger, C., Verachtert, H., Neven, H., Delcour, J., Michiels, C., Ilberg, V., Derdelinckx, G., Titze, J. & Martens, J. (2012). Doubly Modified Carlsberg Test combined with Dynamic Light Scattering allows prediction of the primary gushing potential of harvested barley and malt. *Cerevisia*, 37 (3), 77–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cervis.2012.10.001
- Durán, P., Barra, P.J., Jorquera, M.A., Viscardi, S., Fernandez, C., Paz, C., Mora, M.D.L.L. & Bol, R. (2019). Occurrence of Soil Fungi in Antarctic Pristine Environments. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology*, 7, 28. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2019.00028
- Durling, M., Clemmensen, K., Stenlid, J. & Lindahl, B. (2011). SCATA-An efficient bioinformatic pipeline for species identification and quantification after high-throughput sequencing of tagged amplicons
- Edlinger, A., Garland, G., Hartman, K., Banerjee, S., Degrune, F., García-Palacios, P., Hallin, S., Valzano-Held, A., Herzog, C., Jansa, J., Kost, E., Maestre, F.T., Pescador, D.S., Philippot, L., Rillig, M.C., Romdhane, S., Saghaï, A., Spor, A., Frossard, E. & Van Der Heijden, M.G.A. (2022). Agricultural management and pesticide use reduce the functioning of beneficial plant symbionts. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, 6 (8), 1145–1154. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-022-01799-8
- Eurostat (2022). Beer production increased in 2021. *Products Eurostat News*. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/en/web/products-eurostat-news/-/ddn-20220830-1 [2023-02-02]
- Fiehn, O. (2001). Combining Genomics, Metabolome Analysis, and Biochemical Modelling to Understand Metabolic Networks. *Comparative and Functional Genomics*, 2 (3), 155–168. https://doi.org/10.1002/cfg.82
- Fiore, M., Sauvée, L. & Wiśniewska-Paluszak, J. (2022). Special Issue: Opportunities and challenges of EU farm-to-fork strategy. *International Food and Agribusiness Management Review*, 25 (5), 703–707. https://doi.org/10.22434/IFAMR2022.x001
- Gai, Y.-P., Zhang, W.-T., Mu, Z.-M. & Ji, X.-L. (2014). Involvement of ligninolytic enzymes in degradation of wheat straw by *Trametes trogii*. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 117 (1), 85–95. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12529
- Gavrilova, O.P., Orina, A.S., Kessenikh, E.D., Gustyleva, L.K., Savelieva, E.I., Gogina, N.N. & Gagkaeva, T.Yu. (2020). Diversity of Physiological and Biochemical Characters of *Microdochium* Fungi. *Chemistry & Biodiversity*, 17 (8). https://doi.org/10.1002/cbdv.202000294
- Gay, H., Frezal, Č. & Adenäuer, M. (2022). *The impacts and policy implications of Russia's aggression against Ukraine on agricultural markets*. OECD. https://www.oecd.org/ukraine-hub/policy-responses/the-impacts-andpolicy-implications-of-russia-s-aggression-against-ukraine-onagricultural-markets-0030a4cd/ [2022-02-13]
- Geißinger, C., Gastl, M. & Becker, T. (2022). Enzymes from Cereal and Fusarium Metabolism Involved in the Malting Process – A Review. Journal of the American Society of Brewing Chemists, 80 (1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/03610470.2021.1911272
- Glauber, J., Laborde Debucquet, D., Martin, W. & Vos, R. (2020). COVID-19: Trade restrictions are worst possible response to safeguard food security. In:

COVID-19 and global food security. International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). 66–68. https://ideas.repec.org/h/fpr/ifpric/133833.html

- Hána, D., Materna, K. & Hasman, J. (2020). Winners and losers of the global beer market: European competition in the view of product life-cycle. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, 44 (6), 1245–1270. https://doi.org/10.1093/cje/beaa006
- Hannah Wittman (2011). Food Sovereignty: A New Rights Framework for Food and Nature? *Environment* and Society, 2 (1). https://doi.org/10.3167/ares.2011.020106
- Havlová, P., Lancová, K., Váňová, M., Havel, J. & Hajšlová, J. (2006). The Effect of Fungicidal Treatment on Selected Quality Parameters of Barley and Malt. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54 (4), 1353–1360. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0581372
- Hernández-Restrepo, M., Groenewald, J.Z. & Crous, P.W. (2016). Taxonomic and phylogenetic re-evaluation of <I>Microdochium, Monographella</I> and <I>Idriella</I>. *Persoonia Molecular Phylogeny and Evolution of Fungi*, 36 (1), 57–82. https://doi.org/10.3767/003158516X688676
- Hippeli, S. & Elstner, E.F. (2002). Are Hydrophobins and/or Non-Specific Lipid Transfer Proteins Responsible for Gushing in Beer? New Hypotheses on the Chemical Nature of Gushing Inducing Factors. Zeitschrift für Naturforschung C, 57 (1–2), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1515/znc-2002-1-201
- Hudec, K. (2007). Influence of harvest date and geographical location on kernel symptoms, fungal infestation and embryo viability of malting barley. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 113 (2), 125–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2006.06.026
- Hunter, J.D. (2022). *Matplotlib: A 2D graphics environment*. (3). https://doi.org/10.1109/MCSE.2007.55
- Ihrmark, K., Bödeker, I.T.M., Cruz-Martinez, K., Friberg, H., Kubartova, A., Schenck, J., Strid, Y., Stenlid, J., Brandström-Durling, M., Clemmensen, K.E. & Lindahl, B.D. (2012). New primers to amplify the fungal ITS2 region - evaluation by 454-sequencing of artificial and natural communities. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 82 (3), 666–677. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2012.01437.x
- Iqbal, A., Khan, R.S., Shah, D.A., Hussain, S.A., Abdalla, A.N., Wadood, A. & Mii, M. (2023). Lipid transfer proteins: structure, classification and prospects of genetic engineering for improved disease resistance in plants. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture (PCTOC)*, 153 (1), 3–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11240-023-02445-2
- James, G., Witten, D., Hastie, T. & Tibshirani, R. (2013). An Introduction to Statistical Learning. New York, NY: Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7138-7
- Jordbruksverket (2022). Rekommendationer för att minimera fusariumtoxinerna DON och ZEA i spannmål 2022. (OVR313). Jönköping: Jordbruksverket. https://www2.jordbruksverket.se/download/18.72992f4618125ed85402e6 dc/1654248544862/ovr313v10.pdf [2023-05-03]
- Karlsson, I., Persson, P. & Friberg, H. (2021). Fusarium Head Blight From a Microbiome Perspective. Frontiers in Microbiology, 12, 628373. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.628373
- Kerr Bezner, R., Hasegawa, T., Lasco, R., Bhatt, I., Deryng, D., Farell, A., Gurney-Smith, H., Ju, H., Lluch-Cota, S., Meza, F., Nelson, G., Neufeldt, H. & Thornton, P. (2022). *Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability.* Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/9781009325844 [2023-02-16]

- Khalil, H., Ecke, F., Evander, M., Magnusson, M. & Hörnfeldt, B. (2016). Declining ecosystem health and the dilution effect. *Scientific Reports*, 6 (1), 31314. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep31314
- Lindahl, B.D., Nilsson, R.H., Tedersoo, L., Abarenkov, K., Carlsen, T., Kjøller, R., Kõljalg, U., Pennanen, T., Rosendahl, S., Stenlid, J. & Kauserud, H. (2013). Fungal community analysis by high-throughput sequencing of amplified markers – a user's guide. *New Phytologist*, 199 (1), 288–299. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12243
- Linder, M.B., Szilvay, G.R., Nakari-Setälä, T. & Penttilä, M.E. (2005). Hydrophobins: the protein-amphiphiles of filamentous fungi. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 29 (5), 877–896. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.femsre.2005.01.004
- Lowe, R.G.T., Allwood, J.W., Galster, A.M., Urban, M., Daudi, A., Canning, G., Ward, J.L., Beale, M.H. & Hammond-Kosack, K.E. (2010). A Combined¹ H Nuclear Magnetic Resonance and Electrospray Ionization–Mass Spectrometry Analysis to Understand the Basal Metabolism of Plant-Pathogenic *Fusarium* spp. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*®, 23 (12), 1605–1618. https://doi.org/10.1094/MPMI-04-10-0092
- Lukinac, J. & Jukić, M. (2022). Barley in the Production of Cereal-Based Products. *Plants*, 11 (24), 3519. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants11243519
- Lusk, L.T. (2016). Controlling Beer Foam and Gushing. In: *Brewing Materials and Processes*. Elsevier. 175–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-799954-8.00010-1
- Malacrinò, A., Abdelfattah, A., Belgacem, I. & Schena, L. (2023). Plant genotype influence the structure of cereal seed fungal microbiome. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 13, 1075399. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.1075399
- Mastanjević, K., Krstanović, V., Mastanjević, K. & Šarkanj, B. (2018). Malting and Brewing Industries Encounter *Fusarium* spp. Related Problems. *Fermentation*, 4 (1), 3. https://doi.org/10.3390/fermentation4010003
- McGovern, R.J., Horita, H., Stiles, C.M. & Seijo, T.E. (2006). Host Range of *Itersonilia perplexans* and Management of Itersonilia Petal Blight of China Aster. *Plant Health Progress*, 7 (1), 7. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHP-2006-1018-02-RS
- McKinney, W. (2022). *pandas: a foundational Python library for data analysis and statistics*. https://pandas.pydata.org/
- Minenko, E., Vogel, R.F. & Niessen, L. (2014). Significance of the class II hydrophobin FgHyd5p for the life cycle of *Fusarium* graminearum. *Fungal Biology*, 118 (4), 385–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funbio.2014.02.003
- Nayfach, S., Roux, S., Seshadri, R., Udwary, D., Varghese, N., Schulz, F., Wu, D., Paez-Espino, D., Chen, I.-M., Huntemann, M., Palaniappan, K., Ladau, J., Mukherjee, S., Reddy, T.B.K., Nielsen, T., Kirton, E., Faria, J.P., Edirisinghe, J.N., Henry, C.S., Jungbluth, S.P., Chivian, D., Dehal, P., Wood-Charlson, E.M., Arkin, A.P., Tringe, S.G., Visel, A., IMG/M Data Consortium, Abreu, H., Acinas, S.G., Allen, E., Allen, M.A., Alteio, L.V., Andersen, G., Anesio, A.M., Attwood, G., Avila-Magaña, V., Badis, Y., Bailey, J., Baker, B., Baldrian, P., Barton, H.A., Beck, D.A.C., Becraft, E.D., Beller, H.R., Beman, J.M., Bernier-Latmani, R., Berry, T.D., Bertagnolli, A., Bertilsson, S., Bhatnagar, J.M., Bird, J.T., Blanchard, J.L., Blumer-Schuette, S.E., Bohannan, B., Borton, M.A., Brady, A., Brawley, S.H., Brodie, J., Brown, S., Brum, J.R., Brune, A., Bryant, D.A., Buchan, A., Buckley, D.H., Buongiorno, J., Cadillo-Quiroz, H., Caffrey, S.M., Campbell, A.N., Campbell, B., Carr, S., Carroll, J., Cary, S.C., Cates, A.M., Cattolico, R.A., Cavicchioli, R., Chistoserdova, L., Coleman, M.L., Constant, P., Conway, J.M., Mac Cormack, W.P., Crowe, S., Crump, B., Currie, C., Daly, R., DeAngelis, K.M., Denef, V., Denman, S.E., Desta, A.,

Dionisi, H., Dodsworth, J., Dombrowski, N., Donohue, T., Dopson, M., Driscoll, T., Dunfield, P., Dupont, C.L., Dynarski, K.A., Edgcomb, V., Edwards, E.A., Elshahed, M.S., Figueroa, I., Flood, B., Fortney, N., Fortunato, C.S., Francis, C., Gachon, C.M.M., Garcia, S.L., Gazitua, M.C., Gentry, T., Gerwick, L., Gharechahi, J., Girguis, P., Gladden, J., Gradoville, M., Grasby, S.E., Gravuer, K., Grettenberger, C.L., Gruninger, R.J., Guo, J., Habteselassie, M.Y., Hallam, S.J., Hatzenpichler, R., Hausmann, B., Hazen, T.C., Hedlund, B., Henny, C., Herfort, L., Hernandez, M., Hershey, O.S., Hess, M., Hollister, E.B., Hug, L.A., Hunt, D., Jansson, J., Jarett, J., Kadnikov, V.V., Kelly, C., Kelly, R., Kelly, W., Kerfeld, C.A., Kimbrel, J., Klassen, J.L., Konstantinidis, K.T., Lee, L.L., Li, W.-J., Loder, A.J., Loy, A., Lozada, M., MacGregor, B., Magnabosco, C., Maria da Silva, A., McKay, R.M., McMahon, K., McSweeney, C.S., Medina, M., Meredith, L., Mizzi, J., Mock, T., Momper, L., Moran, M.A., Morgan-Lang, C., Moser, D., Muyzer, G., Myrold, D., Nash, M., Nesbø, C.L., Neumann, A.P., Neumann, R.B., Noguera, D., Northen, T., Norton, J., Nowinski, B., Nüsslein, K., O'Malley, M.A., Oliveira, R.S., Maia de Oliveira, V., Onstott, T., Osvatic, J., Ouyang, Y., Pachiadaki, M., Parnell, J., Partida-Martinez, L.P., Peay, K.G., Pelletier, D., Peng, X., Pester, M., Pett-Ridge, J., Peura, S., Pjevac, P., Plominsky, A.M., Poehlein, A., Pope, P.B., Ravin, N., Redmond, M.C., Reiss, R., Rich, V., Rinke, C., Rodrigues, J.L.M., Rodriguez-Reillo, W., Rossmassler, K., Sackett, J., Salekdeh, G.H., Saleska, S., Scarborough, M., Schachtman, D., Schadt, C.W., Schrenk, M., Sczyrba, A., Sengupta, A., Setubal, J.C., Shade, A., Sharp, C., Sherman, D.H., Shubenkova, O.V., Sierra-Garcia, I.N., Simister, R., Simon, H., Sjöling, S., Slonczewski, J., Correa de Souza, R.S., Spear, J.R., Stegen, J.C., Stepanauskas, R., Stewart, F., Suen, G., Sullivan, M., Sumner, D., Swan, B.K., Swingley, W., Tarn, J., Taylor, G.T., Teeling, H., Tekere, M., Teske, A., Thomas, T., Thrash, C., Tiedje, J., Ting, C.S., Tully, B., Tyson, G., Ulloa, O., Valentine, D.L., Van Goethem, M.W., VanderGheynst, J., Verbeke, T.J., Vollmers, J., Vuillemin, A., Waldo, N.B., Walsh, D.A., Weimer, B.C., Whitman, T., van der Wielen, P., Wilkins, M., Williams, T.J., Woodcroft, B., Woolet, J., Wrighton, K., Ye, J., Young, E.B., Youssef, N.H., Yu, F.B., Zemskaya, T.I., Ziels, R., Woyke, T., Mouncey, N.J., Ivanova, N.N., Kyrpides, N.C. & Eloe-Fadrosh, E.A. (2021). A genomic catalog of Earth's microbiomes. Nature Biotechnology, 39 (4), 499-509. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-020-0718-6

- Nganje, W.E., Bangsund, D.A., Leistritz, F.L., Wilson, W.W. & Tiapo, N.M. (2004). Regional Economic Impacts of *Fusarium* Head Blight in Wheat and Barley. *Review of Agricultural Economics*, 26 (3), 332–347. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9353.2004.00183.x
- Nielsen, L.K., Jensen, J.D., Nielsen, G.C., Jensen, J.E., Spliid, N.H., Thomsen, I.K., Justesen, A.F., Collinge, D.B. & Jørgensen, L.N. (2011). *Fusarium* Head Blight of Cereals in Denmark: Species Complex and Related Mycotoxins. *Phytopathology*®, 101 (8), 960–969. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-07-10-0188
- Nilsson, R.H., Larsson, K.-H., Taylor, A.F.S., Bengtsson-Palme, J., Jeppesen, T.S., Schigel, D., Kennedy, P., Picard, K., Glöckner, F.O., Tedersoo, L., Saar, I., Kõljalg, U. & Abarenkov, K. (2019). The UNITE database for molecular identification of fungi: handling dark taxa and parallel taxonomic classifications. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 47 (D1), D259–D264. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gky1022
- O'Donnell, K., Rooney, A.P., Proctor, R.H., Brown, D.W., McCormick, S.P., Ward, T.J., Frandsen, R.J.N., Lysøe, E., Rehner, S.A., Aoki, T., Robert, V.A.R.G., Crous, P.W., Groenewald, J.Z., Kang, S. & Geiser, D.M. (2013).

Phylogenetic analyses of RPB1 and RPB2 support a middle Cretaceous origin for a clade comprising all agriculturally and medically important fusaria. *Fungal Genetics and Biology*, 52, 20–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fgb.2012.12.004

- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P.R., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, G.L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M.H.H., Szoecs, E. & Wagner, H. (2022). *vegan: Community ecology package*. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan
- Ondov, B.D., Bergman, N.H. & Phillippy, A.M. (2011). Krona: a flexible, interactive metagenomics visualization tool. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 39 (suppl₂), W497–W500. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkr227
- Paananen, A., Vuorimaa, E., Torkkeli, M., Penttilä, M., Kauranen, M., Ikkala, O., Lemmetyinen, H., Serimaa, R. & Linder, M.B. (2003). Structural Hierarchy in Molecular Films of Two Class II Hydrophobins. *Biochemistry*, 42 (18), 5253–5258. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi034031t
- Pedregosa, F., Varoquaux, G., Gramfort, A., Michel, V., Thirion, B., Grisel, O., Blondel, M., Prettenhofer, P., Weiss, R., Dubourg, V., Vanderplas, J., Passos, A., Cournapeau, D., Brucher, M., Perrot, M. & Duchesnay, E. (2021). scikit-learn: Machine learning in Python. http://jmlr.csail.mit.edu/papers/v12/pedregosa11a.html
- Pretty, J. (2008). Agricultural sustainability: concepts, principles and evidence. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 363 (1491), 447–465. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2007.2163
- Quince, C., Walker, A.W., Simpson, J.T., Loman, N.J. & Segata, N. (2017). Shotgun metagenomics, from sampling to analysis. *Nature Biotechnology*, 35 (9), 833–844. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.3935
- Ristaino, J.B., Anderson, P.K., Bebber, D.P., Brauman, K.A., Cunniffe, N.J., Fedoroff, N.V., Finegold, C., Garrett, K.A., Gilligan, C.A., Jones, C.M., Martin, M.D., MacDonald, G.K., Neenan, P., Records, A., Schmale, D.G., Tateosian, L. & Wei, Q. (2021). The persistent threat of emerging plant disease pandemics to global food security. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 118 (23), e2022239118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2022239118
- Rivera-Hoyos, C.M., Morales-Álvarez, E.D., Poutou-Piñales, R.A., Pedroza-Rodríguez, A.M., Rodríguez-Vázquez, R. & Delgado-Boada, J.M. (2013). Fungal laccases. *Fungal Biology Reviews*, 27 (3–4), 67–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbr.2013.07.001
- Rojas, E.C., Sapkota, R., Jensen, B., Jørgensen, H.J.L., Henriksson, T., Jørgensen, L.N., Nicolaisen, M. & Collinge, D.B. (2020). *Fusarium* Head Blight Modifies Fungal Endophytic Communities During Infection of Wheat Spikes. *Microbial Ecology*, 79 (2), 397–408. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-019-01426-3
- Rossi, V., Ravanetti, A., Pattori, E. & Giosuè, S. (2001). INFLUENCE OF TEMPERATURE AND HUMIDITY ON THE INFECTION OF WHEAT SPIKES BY SOME FUNGI CAUSING *FUSARIUM* HEAD BLIGHT. *Journal of Plant Pathology*, 83 (3), 189–198
- Sapkota, R., Jørgensen, L.N., Boeglin, L. & Nicolaisen, M. (2023). Fungal Communities of Spring Barley from Seedling Emergence to Harvest During a Severe Puccinia hordei Epidemic. *Microbial Ecology*, 85 (2), 617–627. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-022-01985-y
- Sarlin, T., Laitila, A., Pekkarinen, A. & Haikara, A. (2005a). Effects of Three *Fusarium* Species on the Quality of Barley and Malt. *Journal of the American Society of Brewing Chemists*, 63 (2), 43–49. https://doi.org/10.1094/ASBCJ-63-0043

- Sarlin, T., Nakari-Setälä, T., Linder, M., Penttilä, M. & Haikara, A. (2005b). Fungal Hydrophobins as Predictors of the Gushing Activity of Malt. *Journal of the Institute of Brewing*, 111 (2), 105–111. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2050-0416.2005.tb00655.x
- Savary, S., Willocquet, L., Pethybridge, S.J., Esker, P., McRoberts, N. & Nelson, A. (2019). The global burden of pathogens and pests on major food crops. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, 3 (3), 430–439. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-018-0793-y
- Schabo, D.C., Alvarenga, V.O., Schaffner, D.W. & Magnani, M. (2021). A worldwide systematic review, meta-analysis, and health risk assessment study of mycotoxins in beers. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 20 (6), 5742–5764. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12856
- Schwarz, P.B., Beattie, S. & Casper, H.H. (1996). RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN *FUSARIUM* INFESTATION OF BARLEY AND THE GUSHING POTENTIAL OF MALT. *Journal of the Institute of Brewing*, 102 (2), 93– 96. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2050-0416.1996.tb00899.x
- Selitrennikoff, C.P. (2001). Antifungal Proteins. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 67 (7), 2883–2894. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.67.7.2883-2894.2001
- Shokribousjein, Z., Deckers, S.M., Gebruers, K., Lorgouilloux, Y., Baggerman, G., Verachtert, H., Delcour, J.A., Etienne, P., Rock, J.-M., Michiels, C. & Derdelinckx, G. (2011). Hydrophobins, beer foaming and gushing. *Cerevisia*, 35 (4), 85–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cervis.2010.12.001
- Singh, B.K., Delgado-Baquerizo, M., Egidi, E., Guirado, E., Leach, J.E., Liu, H. & Trivedi, P. (2023). Climate change impacts on plant pathogens, food security and paths forward. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*,. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-023-00900-7
- SPAA (2022). Dryckesbranschrapporten 2022. (5). Stockholm: Sveriges producenter av alkoholdrycker. https://spaa.se/s/Dryckesbranschrapporten2022-8ktp.pdf [2023-02-02]
- Stilman, W., Wackers, G., Sichani, S.B., Khorshid, M., Theßeling, F., Vereman, J., Andruck, L., Elian, D., Cornelis, P., Impe, J.V., Verstrepen, K., Van de Voorde, I. & Wagner, P. (2022). A table-top sensor for the detection of hydrophobins and yeasts in brewery applications. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 373, 132690. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2022.132690
- Suproniene, S., Kadziene, G., Irzykowski, W., Sneideris, D., Ivanauskas, A., Sakalauskas, S., Serbiak, P., Svegzda, P., Kelpsiene, J., Pranaitiene, S. & Jedryczka, M. (2019). Asymptomatic weeds are frequently colonised by pathogenic species of *Fusarium* in cereal-based crop rotations. Lehnhoff, E. (ed.) (Lehnhoff, E., ed.) *Weed Research*, 59 (4), 312–323. https://doi.org/10.1111/wre.12367
- Thomas, T.A. & Tirumale, S. (2022). Production of a Polyketide Pigment by *Fusarium* chlamydosporum. *Journal of Pure and Applied Microbiology*, 16 (2), 1318–1329. https://doi.org/10.22207/JPAM.16.2.60
- Tsers, I., Marenina, E., Meshcherov, A., Petrova, O., Gogoleva, O., Tkachenko, A., Gogoleva, N., Gogolev, Y., Potapenko, E., Muraeva, O., Ponomareva, M., Korzun, V. & Gorshkov, V. (2023). First genome-scale insights into the virulence of the snow mold causal fungus Microdochium nivale. *IMA Fungus*, 14 (1), 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43008-022-00107-0
- Virkajärvi, V., Sarlin, T. & Laitila, A. (2017a). Fusarium Profiling and Barley Malt Gushing Propensity. Journal of the American Society of Brewing Chemists, 75 (3), 181–192. https://doi.org/10.1094/ASBCJ-2017-3321-01
- Virkajärvi, V., Sarlin, T. & Laitila, A. (2017b). *Fusarium* Profiling and Barley Malt Gushing Propensity. *Journal of the American Society of Brewing Chemists*, 75 (3), 181–192. https://doi.org/10.1094/ASBCJ-2017-3321-01

- Vujanovic, V. (2021). Tremellomycetes Yeasts in Kernel Ecological Niche: Early Indicators of Enhanced Competitiveness of Endophytic and Mycoparasitic Symbionts against Wheat Pathobiota. *Plants*, 10 (5), 905. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants10050905
- Wang, Q., Garrity, G.M., Tiedje, J.M. & Cole, J.R. (2007). Naïve Bayesian Classifier for Rapid Assignment of rRNA Sequences into the New Bacterial Taxonomy. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 73 (16), 5261–5267. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00062-07
- Waskom, M. (2022). *seaborn: statistical data visualization*. https://seaborn.pydata.org/
- White, Bruns, Tom, Lee, S. & Taylor, J. (1990). Amplification and direct sequencing of fungal ribosomal RNA genes for phylogenetics. 315–322.
- Wickham, H. & RStudio (2019). *tidyverse: Easily install and load the "tidyverse."* https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=tidyverse
- Wolf-Hall, C.E. (2007). Mold and mycotoxin problems encountered during malting and brewing. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 119 (1–2), 89– 94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2007.07.030
- Yan, Z., Xiong, C., Liu, H. & Singh, B.K. (2022). Sustainable agricultural practices contribute significantly to One Health. *Journal of Sustainable Agriculture* and Environment, 1 (3), 165–176. https://doi.org/10.1002/sae2.12019

Popular scientific summary: Fungal Intruders: The Unseen Threat to Your Beer

Are you a beer enthusiast, or perhaps, part of the beer production industry? Do you find that high quality beer is important to you? Then this read might be worth your while!

Fungal contamination in malting barley could secretly be causing problems in your beer - from changing the colour of barley to inducing a fizzy gushing of beer upon opening. Our investigation delved into these minute, unseen invaders of barley grains – the foundation for malt beer, unearthing new culprits and underlining their impact on beer production. In the humble fields of southern Sweden, a silent drama unfolds. Here, fungi invisible to the naked eye, are waging a war on the malting barley we all know and love. And their actions are causing what we refer to as "gushing" - that unexpected overflow of foam and beer you might have experienced when popping the cap of a beer bottle.

To put this into context, think of these fungi as uninvited guests at a party, causing quite the commotion. In this case, the party is the barley grains, and the commotion is gushing, the afterparty is the production of vigorous amounts of foam when beer containers are de-pressurized or opened. Understanding these party crashers and their antics was the goal of our study, which scoured through barley samples from southern Sweden, investigating the influence of these fungi on the raw materials of beer. Our aim was to characterise the fungal communities dwelling within the sampled barley grains, and to examine to which extent these fungal communities contribute to gushing, and the pinkish discolouration of barley grains – which can be seen as an indication of grain quality.

We noted that among the identified fungal species a well-known fungal plantpathogen named *Fusarium* contributed the most to both the discolouration of grain and to gushing in our samples – measured via model importance. Surprisingly however, other fungal genera were found to discolour the barley grains in a similar manner as *Fusarium*, including two types of yeast, which have previously garnered little attention in the context of grain quality research; and like unmasking new suspects, their unforeseen roles had gone unseen until now. To conclude the results from this project there seems to be many different fungi contributing to the gushing phenomenon at different stages of the malt beer production process.

So, what does this mean for the beer we all know and love? The identification of these fungal culprits offers a step forward in improving the quality of beer. It equips the industry with new knowledge which can be used to develop targeted strategies, improve quality assessments, and reduce economic losses due to the contamination of malting barley grains. These microscopic invaders can significantly influence the fate of our favourite beverage. Monitoring and managing these party crashers could mean more sustainable beer production and, ultimately, a perfect pint in your hand. However, just like with beer foam, what you see is just the froth. More research is needed to unravel the complete role of these fungi and to find effective ways to control them. The battle against these invisible invaders continues, all in pursuit of the perfected brew. One thing remains clear, in this intricate world of fungi and barley, even the smallest of organisms can have the most profound of impacts on your after-work beer.

Acknowledgements

I express my profound gratitude to my family for your support during the thesis – your encouragement has been a beacon during this process.

An equal amount of appreciation goes out to Javier – this journey was made more fun and enjoyable with the kindness, support, and help you have offered!

To Sofia, you have been a great friend throughout the master's programme, and our friendship fuelled my determination to reach for the stars!

Finally, I would like to acknowledge and thank Hanna Friberg for the enriching opportunity to collaborate on this project.

I would like to acknowledge the support of the National Genomics Infrastructure (NGI)/Uppsala Genome Center and UPPMAX for providing assistance in massive parallel sequencing and computational infrastructure. Work performed at NGI/Uppsala Genome Center has been funded by RFI/VR and Science for Life Laboratory, Sweden

Appendix 1

Table 1. List of all annotated clusters and OTUs used in statistical analyses.

| Cluster name | Read counts | Phylum | Class | Order | Family | Genus | Species |
|--------------|-------------|---------------|--------------------|---------------------|----------------------|----------------|------------------------------|
| scata5511_0 | 15960 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Pleosporaceae | Alternaria | Alternaria infectoria |
| scata5511_1 | 4409 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Hypocreales | Nectriaceae | Fusarium | Fusarium grp. avenaceum |
| scata5511_2 | 13242 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Capnodiales | Cladosporiaceae | Cladosporium | Cladosporium herbarum |
| scata5511_3 | 4835 | Basidiomycota | Microbotryomycetes | Sporidiobolales | Sporidiobolaceae | Sporobolomyces | Sporobolomyces roseus |
| scata5511_4 | 3286 | Basidiomycota | Tremellomycetes | Tremellales | Bulleribasidiaceae | Vishniacozyma | Vishniacozyma victoriae |
| scata5511_5 | 4579 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Phaeosphaeriaceae | Septoriella | Septoriella pseudophragmitis |
| scata5511_6 | 5974 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Pleosporaceae | Alternaria | Alternaria infectoria |
| scata5511_8 | 1672 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Dothideales | Saccotheciaceae | Aureobasidium | Aureobasidium pullulans |
| scata5511_9 | 1344 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Didymellaceae | Didymella | Didymella exigua |
| scata5511_10 | 749 | Basidiomycota | Tremellomycetes | Cystofilobasidiales | Cystofilobasidiaceae | Itersonilia | Itersonilia sp. |
| scata5511_11 | 1683 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Pleosporaceae | Alternaria | Alternaria infectoria |
| scata5511_12 | 864 | Basidiomycota | Tremellomycetes | Cystofilobasidiales | Cystofilobasidiaceae | Itersonilia | Itersonilia sp. |
| scata5511_13 | 780 | Basidiomycota | Agaricomycetes | Polyporales | Polyporaceae | Trametes | Trametes trogii |
| scata5511_14 | 720 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Phaeosphaeriaceae | Septoriella | Septoriella pseudophragmitis |
| scata5511_15 | 633 | Basidiomycota | Agaricomycetes | Boletales | Diplocystaceae | Astraeus | Astraeus sp. |
| scata5511_16 | 513 | Basidiomycota | Tremellomycetes | Tremellales | Bulleribasidiaceae | Vishniacozyma | Vishniacozyma sp. |
| scata5511_17 | 903 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Hypocreales | Nectriaceae | Fusarium | Fusarium grp. poae |
| scata5511_18 | 812 | Basidiomycota | Tremellomycetes | Tremellales | Bulleribasidiaceae | Vishniacozyma | Vishniacozyma victoriae |
| scata5511_19 | 680 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Xylariales | Microdochiaceae | Microdochium | Microdochium grp. nivale |
| scata5511_20 | 433 | Basidiomycota | Tremellomycetes | Cystofilobasidiales | Cystofilobasidiaceae | Itersonilia | Itersonilia sp. |
| scata5511_21 | 434 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Cucurbitariaceae | Pyrenochaeta | Pyrenochaeta gentianicola |
| scata5511_22 | 305 | Basidiomycota | Agaricomycetes | Trechisporales | Hydnodontaceae | Brevicellicium | Brevicellicium molle |
| scata5511_23 | 297 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Hypocreales | Nectriaceae | Fusarium | Fusarium grp. poae |
| scata5511_24 | 227 | Basidiomycota | Agaricomycetes | Agaricales | Clavariaceae | Mucronella | Mucronella bresadolae |
| scata5511_25 | 346 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Pleosporaceae | Bipolaris | Bipolaris eleusines |
| scata5511_26 | 315 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Hypocreales | Sarocladiaceae | Sarocladium | Sarocladium zeae |
| scata5511_27 | 350 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Hypocreales | Nectriaceae | Fusarium | Fusarium grp. poae |

| Cluster name | Read counts | Phylum | Class | Order | Family | Genus | Species |
|--------------|-------------|---------------|--------------------|---------------------|----------------------|------------------|------------------------------|
| scata5511_28 | 313 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Xylariales | Microdochiaceae | Microdochium | Microdochium grp. nivale |
| scata5511_29 | 293 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Phaeosphaeriaceae | Septoriella | Septoriella pseudophragmitis |
| scata5511_30 | 253 | Basidiomycota | Agaricomycetes | Agaricales | Physalacriaceae | Cylindrobasidium | Cylindrobasidium evolvens |
| scata5511_31 | 225 | Basidiomycota | Tremellomycetes | Tremellales | Tremellaceae | Dioszegia | Dioszegia sp. |
| scata5511_32 | 214 | Basidiomycota | Microbotryomycetes | Sporidiobolales | Sporidiobolaceae | Rhodotorula | Rhodotorula sp. |
| scata5511_33 | 3 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Xylariales | Microdochiaceae | Microdochium | Microdochium grp. nivale |
| scata5511_34 | 64 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Phaeosphaeriaceae | Septoriella | Septoriella pseudophragmitis |
| scata5511_35 | 138 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Pleosporaceae | Stemphylium | Stemphylium vesicarium |
| scata5511_36 | 189 | Basidiomycota | Ustilaginomycetes | Ustilaginales | Ustilaginaceae | Mycosarcoma | Ustilago maydis |
| scata5511_37 | 189 | Ascomycota | Leotiomycetes | Helotiales | Sclerotiniaceae | Botrytis | Botrytis allii |
| scata5511_38 | 244 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Hypocreales | Nectriaceae | Fusarium | Fusarium grp. poae |
| scata5511_39 | 133 | Basidiomycota | Tremellomycetes | Cystofilobasidiales | Cystofilobasidiaceae | Itersonilia | Itersonilia sp. |
| scata5511_40 | 151 | Basidiomycota | Tremellomycetes | Cystofilobasidiales | Cystofilobasidiaceae | Itersonilia | Itersonilia sp. |
| scata5511_41 | 123 | Basidiomycota | Microbotryomycetes | Sporidiobolales | Sporidiobolaceae | Sporobolomyces | Sporobolomyces roseus |
| scata5511_42 | 88 | Basidiomycota | Tremellomycetes | Cystofilobasidiales | Cystofilobasidiaceae | Itersonilia | Itersonilia sp. |
| scata5511_43 | 84 | Basidiomycota | Ustilaginomycetes | Ustilaginales | Ustilaginaceae | Mycosarcoma | Ustilago maydis |
| scata5511_45 | 56 | Basidiomycota | Agaricomycotina | Tremellales | Bulleraceae | Bullera | Bullera alba |
| scata5511_46 | 46 | Basidiomycota | Tremellomycetes | Cystofilobasidiales | Cystofilobasidiaceae | Itersonilia | Itersonilia sp. |
| scata5511_47 | 4 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Pleosporaceae | Alternaria | Alternaria infectoria |
| scata5511_49 | 15 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Phaeosphaeriaceae | Septoriella | Septoriella pseudophragmitis |
| scata5511_50 | 116 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Phoma | Phoma | Phoma lotivora |
| scata5511_51 | 31 | Basidiomycota | Tremellomycetes | Tremellales | Bulleribasidiaceae | Vishniacozyma | Vishniacozyma sp. |

| Cluster name | Read counts | Phylum | Class | Order | Family | Genus | Species |
|---------------|-------------|---------------|--------------------|----------------|-----------------------|------------------|------------------------------|
| scata5511_53 | 18 | Basidiomycota | Tremellomycetes | Tremellales | Tremellaceae | Dioszegia | Dioszegia sp. |
| scata5511_54 | 21 | Basidiomycota | Microbotryomycetes | Kriegeriales | Camptobasidiaceae | Camptobasidium | Camptobasidium hydrophilum |
| scata5511_55 | 27 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Phaeosphaeriaceae | Septoriella | Septoriella pseudophragmitis |
| scata5511_57 | 30 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Phaeosphaeriaceae | Septoriella | Septoriella pseudophragmitis |
| scata5511_58 | 72 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Hypocreales | Nectriaceae | Fusarium | Fusarium grp. poae |
| scata5511_59 | 8 | Basidiomycota | Agaricomycotina | Cantharellales | Ceratobasidiaceae | Ceratobasidium | Ceratobasidium sp. |
| scata5511_60 | 69 | Basidiomycota | Ustilaginomycetes | Ustilaginales | Ustilaginaceae | Mycosarcoma | Ustilago maydis |
| scata5511_63 | 67 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Hypocreales | Tilachlidiaceae | Tilachlidium | Tilachlidium brachiatum |
| scata5511_65 | 5 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Phaeosphaeriaceae | Septoriella | Septoriella pseudophragmitis |
| scata5511_66 | 244 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Xylariales | Microdochiaceae | Microdochium | Microdochium grp. nivale |
| scata5511_69 | 35 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Hypocreales | Nectriaceae | Cosmospora | Cosmospora sp. |
| scata5511_72 | 45 | Basidiomycota | Tremellomycetes | Tremellales | Bulleraceae | Bullera | Bullera alba |
| scata5511_77 | 29 | Ascomycota | Eurotiomycetes | Eurotiales | Aspergillaceae | Aspergillus | Aspergillus testaceocolorans |
| scata5511_81 | 30 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Xylariales | Microdochiaceae | Microdochium | Microdochium grp. nivale |
| scata5511_83 | 9 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Phaeosphaeriaceae | Septoriella | Septoriella pseudophragmitis |
| scata5511_85 | 59 | Basidiomycota | Ustilaginomycetes | Ustilaginales | Ustilaginaceae | Mycosarcoma | Ustilago maydis |
| scata5511_88 | 17 | Basidiomycota | Tremellomycetes | Tremellales | Bulleribasidiaceae | Vishniacozyma | Vishniacozyma sp. |
| scata5511_92 | 15 | Basidiomycota | Agaricomycetes | Agaricales | Mycenaceae | Hemimycena | Hemimycena sp. |
| scata5511_93 | 11 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Microsphaeropsidaceae | Microsphaeropsis | Microsphaeropsis centaureae |
| scata5511_95 | 157 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Hypocreales | Cordycipitaceae | Akanthomyces | Akanthomyces muscarius |
| scata5511_108 | 20 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Dothideales | Saccotheciaceae | Aureobasidium | Aureobasidium pullulans |
| scata5511_109 | 29 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Glomerellales | Glomerellaceae | Colletotrichum | Colletotrichum karsti |

| Cluster name | Read counts | Phylum | Class | Order | Family | Genus | Species |
|---------------|-------------|---------------|--------------------|---------------------|----------------------|------------------|--------------------------------|
| scata5511_124 | 15 | Basidiomycota | Tremellomycetes | Cystofilobasidiales | Cystofilobasidiaceae | Itersonilia | Itersonilia sp. |
| scata5511_130 | 15 | Ascomycota | Sordariomycetes | Hypocreales | Nectriaceae | Cosmospora | Cosmospora sp. |
| scata5511_142 | 29 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Pleosporaceae | Alternaria | Alternaria infectoria |
| scata5511_154 | 26 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Pleosporales | Phaeosphaeriaceae | Didymocyrtis | Didymocyrtis microxanthoriae |
| scata5511_167 | 11 | Basidiomycota | Ustilaginomycetes | Ustilaginales | Ustilaginaceae | Mycosarcoma | Ustilago maydis |
| scata5511_168 | 16 | Basidiomycota | Microbotryomycetes | Sporidiobolales | Sporidiobolaceae | Rhodotorula | Rhodotorula sp. |
| scata5511_179 | 36 | Basidiomycota | Agaricomycetes | Agaricales | Crepidotaceae | Crepidotus | Crepidotus subverrucisporus |
| scata5511_181 | 19 | Basidiomycota | Pucciniomycetes | Pucciniales | Pucciniaceae | Puccinia | Puccinia graminis f.sp. avenae |
| scata5511_196 | 14 | Basidiomycota | Agaricomycetes | Cantharellales | Cystofilobasidiaceae | Hydnaceae | Sistotrema sp. |
| scata5511_199 | 16 | Ascomycota | Leotiomycetes | Helotiales | Calloriaceae | Diplonaevia | Diplonaevia sp. |
| scata5511_208 | 24 | Ascomycota | Dothideomycetes | Mycosphaerellales | Mycosphaerellaceae | Pseudocercospora | Pseudocercospora dodonaeae |

Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file. If you are more than one author, the checked box will be applied to all authors. You will find a link to SLU's publishing agreement here:

• https://libanswers.slu.se/en/faq/228318.

YES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance with the SLU agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.

 \Box NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will still be archived and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable.